

**Recommendations and Reports** 

October 15, 2004 / Vol. 53 / No. RR-13

# **Newborn Screening for Cystic Fibrosis**

Evaluation of Benefits and Risks and Recommendations for State Newborn Screening Programs



Image courtesy of Natus Medical Incorporated

**INSIDE:** Continuing Education Examination

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION

#### **MMWR**

The *MMWR* series of publications is published by the Epidemiology Program Office, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, GA 30333.

#### **SUGGESTED CITATION**

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: evaluation of benefits and risks and recommendations for state newborn screening programs. MMWR 2004;53(No. RR-13):[inclusive page numbers].

#### **Centers for Disease Control and Prevention**

Julie L. Gerberding, M.D., M.P.H. Director

Dixie E. Snider, Jr., M.D., M.P.H. (Acting) Deputy Director for Public Health Science

> Tanja Popovic, M.D., Ph.D. (Acting) Associate Director for Science

#### **Epidemiology Program Office**

Stephen B. Thacker, M.D., M.Sc. Director

#### **Office of Scientific and Health Communications**

John W. Ward, M.D. Director Editor, MMWR Series

Suzanne M. Hewitt, M.P.A. Managing Editor, MMWR Series

C. Kay Smith-Akin, M.Ed. Lead Technical Writer/Editor

Jeffrey D. Sokolow, M.A. Project Editor

Beverly J. Holland Lead Visual Information Specialist

Lynda G. Cupell Malbea A. LaPete Visual Information Specialists

Kim L. Bright, M.B.A. Quang M. Doan, M.B.A. Erica R. Shaver Information Technology Specialists

#### **CONTENTS**

Introduction 1
Background 2
Genetics and Pathophysiology of CF 2
Natural History and Diagnosis of CF 3
Treatment of CF 4
Prenatal Screening for CF
Newborn Screening for CF 5
Scientific Evidence
Selection of Studies
Analytic Framework for Evaluating Effects
of CF Newborn Screening10
Evidence for Benefits
Sources of Data
Disease-Oriented Outcomes
Patient-Oriented Outcomes
Benefits to Families
Evidence for Risks of Harm
Risks to Infants Affected with CF and Their Families 23
Risks to Infants with False-Positive CF Screens
and Their Families 24
Risks to Health-Care System 25
Minimizing Risks
Weighing Risks and Benefits
Evidence of Benefits
Risks of Harms and Costs
Balance of Benefits and Risks 29
Recommendations
Acknowledgments
References
Terms and Abbreviations Used in This Report

#### **Disclosure of Relationship**

CDC, our planners, and our content specialists wish to disclose they have no financial interests or other relationships with the manufacturers of commercial products, suppliers of commercial services, or commercial supporters with the exception of Anne Marie Comeau, Ph.D. She wishes to disclose that she is employed by the University of Massachusetts Medical School, which operates a newborn screening program. This report does not include any discussion of the unlabeled use of a product or a product under investigational use.

# **Newborn Screening for Cystic Fibrosis**

# Evaluation of Benefits and Risks and Recommendations for State Newborn Screening Programs

Prepared by Scott D. Grosse, Ph.D.<sup>1</sup> Coleen A. Boyle, Ph.D.<sup>1</sup> Jeffrey R. Botkin, M.D.<sup>2</sup> Anne Marie Comeau, Ph.D.<sup>3</sup> Martin Kharrazi, Ph.D.<sup>4</sup> Margaret Rosenfeld, M.D.<sup>5</sup> Benjamin S. Wilfond, M.D.<sup>6</sup> <sup>1</sup>Office of the Director, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, CDC <sup>2</sup>University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah <sup>3</sup>University of Massachusetts Medical School, Jamaica Plain, Massachusetts <sup>4</sup>California Department of Health Services, Richmond, California <sup>5</sup>University of Washington School of Medicine, Seattle, Washington <sup>6</sup>National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland

#### Summary

In November 2003, CDC and the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation cosponsored a workshop to review the benefits and risks associated with newborn screening for cystic fibrosis (CF). This report describes new research findings and outlines the recommendations of the workshop. The peer-reviewed evidence presented at the workshop supports the clinical utility of newborn screening for CF. Demonstrated long-term benefits from early nutritional treatment as a result of newborn screening for CF include improved growth and, in one study, cognitive development. Other benefits might include reduced hospitalizations and improved survival. Mixed evidence has been reported for pulmonary outcomes. Newborn screening in the United States is associated with diagnosis of CF a median of 1 year earlier than symptomatic detection, which might reduce the expense and anxiety associated with workup for failure to thrive or other symptoms. Certain psychosocial risks for carrier children and their families (e.g., anxiety and misunderstanding) are associated with newborn screening. Exposure of young children to infectious agents through person-toperson transmission in clinical settings, although not an inherent risk of newborn screening, is a potential cause of harm from early detection. Involving specialists in CF care and infection control, genetic counseling, and communication can minimize these potential harms. Although screening decisions depend on a state's individual resources and priorities, on the basis of evidence of moderate benefits and low risk of harm, CDC believes that newborn screening for CF is justified. States should consider the magnitude of benefits and costs and the need to minimize risks through careful planning and implementation, including ongoing collection and evaluation of outcome data.

# Introduction

After sickle cell disease (SCD), cystic fibrosis (CF) is the second most common life-shortening, childhood-onset inherited disorder in the United States. Each year, approximately 1,000 persons in the United States receive a diagnosis of CF. Whether screening newborn infants for CF should be recommended on the basis of clinical benefit from early detection has long been the subject of debate and scientific investigation (1,2). In 1979, development of a test to measure immunoreactive trypsinogen (IRT) in dried blood spots, which is usually substantially elevated in newborns with CF, made universal newborn screening for CF feasible (3). Pilot screening for albumin in meconium had previously been carried out in certain European countries (4). The first newborn screening program for CF in the United States began in Colorado in 1982, followed by Wisconsin in 1985 and Wyoming in 1988.

In 1997, CDC convened a workshop that reviewed the state of scientific evidence on newborn screening for CF and formulated recommendations (5). At that time, newborn screening for CF was conducted in those three states and in three

The material in this report originated in the National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities, José F. Cordero, M.D., Director. **Corresponding preparer:** Scott D. Grosse, Ph.D., Senior Health Economist, Office of the Director, CDC/NCBDDD, 1600 Clifton Rd., NE, MS E-87, Atlanta, GA 30333; Telephone: 404-498-3074; Fax: 404-498-3070; E-mail: sgrosse@cdc.gov.

other states (Connecticut, Montana, and Pennsylvania) in which certain hospitals provided screening for CF as a clinical service.

Participants in the 1997 workshop found sufficient evidence of nutritional benefit to recommend state-based demonstration screening projects (5). Because evidence regarding pulmonary or other outcomes was limited, newborn screening for CF was recommended for research purposes, with informed consent and protocols for tracking and evaluating outcomes. Research was to focus on 1) the consequences of delayed diagnosis, 2) cognitive development caused by malnutrition, 3) pulmonary benefits, and 4) the cost-effectiveness of early detection through screening. A subsequent workshop was to be held to evaluate new evidence and, if warranted, to revise recommendations relating to newborn screening for CF.

In November 2003, in cooperation with the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation (CFF), CDC held a second workshop in Atlanta, Georgia. This workshop had three objectives: 1) to review and evaluate the scientific evidence on benefits and risks of newborn screening for CF; 2) to review screening, diagnostics, and follow-up concerns in CF newborn screening decision making; and 3) to disseminate information about models and best practices for states that choose to adopt newborn screening for CF. The workshop was announced in the *Federal Register*, and the proceedings are available online (http:// www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/cf/meeting.htm) (6). In addition, the majority of the papers presented at the workshop will be published in a CFF-sponsored supplement to the *Journal of Pediatrics*.

Each state selects which disorders to include in its own newborn screening panel (7,8). As of August 2004, the number of disorders listed in state screening panels ranged from four to 40 (9). Criteria commonly used by states to decide on screening panels include the frequency of the disorder, the feasibility and accuracy of screening, the ability of early intervention to improve outcomes, the availability of treatment, and the cost of screening (10-12). Variability in screening criteria and how they are applied indicates a need for evidence-based assessments conducted at the national level (13). The traditional screening criteria have been used to justify universal newborn screening for disorders when early intervention is required soon after birth to prevent death or severe disability, as with phenylketonuria (PKU) (7). The application of these criteria to other disorders with less evidence of overwhelming immediate benefit poses challenges. Alternative frameworks for evaluating the balance of benefits and risks and approaches to screening that mitigate the risks might need to be considered for disorders such as CF (14).

This report summarizes findings presented at the 2003 workshop and those of other studies in the peer-reviewed literature. It also presents recommendations to advise states that choose to adopt newborn screening for CF on how to maximize benefits and minimize harms in implementing screening. The information presented in this report is intended to help decision makers reach informed policy decisions. In addition, this report might be of use to federal agencies, professional organizations, industry, academic institutions, health-care providers, and the public.

# Background

#### Genetics and Pathophysiology of CF

CF is an autosomal recessive genetic disorder; persons with CF have mutations in the gene encoding for the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) protein on both alleles of chromosome 7. Although >1,000 mutations on the *CFTR* gene have been identified, a single common mutation,  $\Delta$ F508, accounts for two thirds of all CF alleles worldwide (*15,16*). This mutation is particularly frequent in persons of northern European ancestry, who also have the highest rates of CF, and is less common among persons of other ancestries. Because different populations have different mutation frequencies, the sensitivity of a given DNA mutation panel for detecting persons with CF varies by race and ethnicity, and including mutations specific to racial and ethnic minority populations can improve detection of CF among those populations (*16*).

Because of differing frequencies of *CFTR* mutations, the birth prevalence\* of CF varies by race/ethnicity. On the basis of data from U.S. newborn screening programs, birth prevalence is 1/2,500-3,500 births among non-Hispanic whites, 1/4,000-10,000 births among Hispanics, and 1/15,000-20,000 births among non-Hispanic blacks (17-19). Non-Hispanic whites, who in 2000 accounted for 56% of births in the United States, constituted >90% of U.S. patients who received a diagnosis of CF (20,21). On the basis of data from state newborn screening programs that included CF in 2000, the overall birth prevalence of CF in the United States is approximately 1/3,700 (21). It is more common than PKU (1/20,000) and galactosemia (1/67,000) and less common than congenital hypothyroidism (1/2,500) and SCD (1/2,600)<sup>†</sup> (21).

Mutations in the *CFTR* gene can alter the structure, function, or production of a cyclic adenosine-5'-monophosphate

<sup>\*</sup> The number of persons with CF at birth relative to the size of the birth cohort, even though they might not receive a diagnosis until later, because CF is a genetic condition.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>†</sup> On the basis of data from states that reported confirmed results; however, reporting is incomplete (21).

(AMP)-dependent transmembrane chloride channel protein that is critical for normal functioning of multiple organs. The organs and systems that are affected in CF include the lungs and upper respiratory tract, gastrointestinal tract, pancreas, liver, sweat glands, and genitourinary tract (15). For example, defective salt reabsorption in sweat glands leads to overly salty sweat and, in certain cases, to electrolyte imbalance, dehydration, and death.

Deficient chloride transport in the lungs is thought to result in the production of abnormally thick mucus, which in turn is believed to lead to airway obstruction, neutrophildominated inflammation, and recurrent and progressive pulmonary infections (15). The combination of inflammation and infection accounts for the pulmonary symptoms related to CF (4). Acute viral respiratory infections, common to all children, are much more likely to develop into lower respiratory tract infections among children with CF, resulting in hospitalization and acquisition of chronic bacterial infections (22,23).

Pancreatic insufficiency, which results from virtually absent pancreatic enzyme activity, is present at diagnosis among  $\geq$ 80% of persons with CF and increases with age to >90%. Pancreatic insufficiency causes fat and protein malabsorption. Gastrointestinal symptoms associated with fat malabsorption include loose, foul-smelling fatty stools (steatorrhea) and abdominal pain. Nutritional consequences of pancreatic insufficiency include fat-soluble vitamin deficiencies and growth failure. Persons with CF who have normal or subnormal pancreatic enzyme activity, referred to as pancreatic sufficiency, rarely experience nutrition-related symptoms but are at risk for pancreatitis as they age (15). They also experience fewer pulmonary problems and have lower mortality (24,25).

Research into genotype-phenotype associations in CF indicates that both pancreatic insufficiency and pancreatic sufficiency are associated with specific CFTR mutations. CFTR gene mutations have been placed into five classes. The first three are associated with complete loss of cyclic AMPregulated chloride channel function and are identified as "severe" mutations. Mutations in the other two might allow for residual CFTR function and therefore are usually associated with milder phenotypes and pancreatic sufficiency (15,25). Persons who have two mutations from within classes I, II, or III almost invariably experience pancreatic insufficiency, and those with  $\leq 2$  mutations from classes IV or V usually maintain pancreatic insufficiency (25). The common  $\Delta$ F508 mutation is a class II mutation that is associated with pancreatic insufficiency. Not all CFTR mutations have been identified or classified.

# Natural History and Diagnosis of CF

The first symptom of CF in approximately 15%–20% of children with CF is meconium ileus, an intestinal obstruction present at birth that usually requires surgery to correct (15). Children with meconium ileus have long-term adverse outcomes (e.g., malnutrition, lung disease, and mortality) at rates comparable to those for children detected later on the basis of clinical symptoms (26). Because meconium ileus is diagnostic of CF, screening does not increase early detection for these children.

The most common symptoms of CF among children without meconium ileus include recurrent cough, wheezing, chronic abdominal pain, loose stools, and failure to thrive (15,27). Failure to thrive is particularly common in infants and young children. On the basis of data from the Wisconsin randomized controlled trial of newborn screening for CF during 1985–1994, the mean height-for-age Z-score at age 1 year among children without screening results is approximately -1.0, or 1 standard deviation (SD) below the reference mean (28). With the introduction of nutritional therapies (e.g., pancreatic enzyme supplements and a high-fat diet) after a diagnosis of CF with pancreatic insufficiency, the majority of children experience partial catch-up growth, and the mean height-for-age Z-score settles around -0.4 by age 2 years.

Respiratory symptoms and infections increase with age. For example, for a cohort of children with CF followed in Wisconsin, the median age at which a pattern of frequent cough became present was age 10.5 months, and 75% had chronic cough by age 6 years (24). By age 7 years, 15%–25% of these children had lung function below the normal range, with progressive decreases in lung function as the children aged (26,29). Approximately 20% of children had positive cultures for Pseudomonas aeruginosa, the leading respiratory pathogen in CF, by age 1 year (30), but age at first acquisition varied widely. In the Wisconsin study, among subjects followed at the center that used recommended infection-control practices, the median age at first acquisition of P. aeruginosa was age 5 years (29). Infection with mucoid P. aeruginosa leads to irreversible pulmonary damage and death (31). In one cohort study, survival to age 16 years was 53% among children who had chronic P. aeruginosa infections and 84% among those who did not (32).

Mortality in CF is associated with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, with respiratory failure being the primary cause of death among >90% of persons with CF (15). Until the 1980s, deaths typically occurred during childhood or adolescence, but the majority of persons with CF now survive into adulthood. During 1974–1994, the international median age of death from CF increased from age 8 years to age 21 years (33). In the United States, the median age of death from CF in 2000 was age 24 years, with 5% of deaths occurring before age 10 years, 25% before age 17 years, and 75% before age 35 years (34). Because of increasing life expectancy, median age of death understates survival; during 1969–2001, the median predicted age of survival increased from age 14 years (35) to age 33 years (20).

Early clinical recognition of CF on the basis of symptoms is desirable but difficult because the majority of symptoms are not specific to CF. Consequently, affected children often initially receive a diagnosis of food allergies, celiac disease, asthma, or bronchitis rather than CF. Misdiagnoses can entail multiple office visits, unnecessary diagnostic tests and hospitalizations, considerable cost to the health-care system, and anxiety for parents. This process has been referred to as a *diagnostic odyssey*, and narrative reports have documented resulting parental distrust of and anger toward health-care providers (*36*).

The median age of diagnosis among all persons with CF in the United States is age 5.3 months (interquartile range [IQR]: 0.7-38.0 months) (27). The overall median age at diagnosis includes infants who receive a diagnosis of CF soon after birth on the basis of meconium ileus, newborn screening, prenatal screening, or a family history. The median age of clinical diagnosis on the basis of signs and symptoms other than meconium ileus is 14.5 months (IQR: 4.2-65.0 months), compared with 0.2 months (IQR: 0-0.9 months) for meconium ileus and 0.5 months (IQR: 0-0.9 months) for newborn screening (27). Diagnosis on the basis of symptoms among infants is associated with a >2-fold greater risk of medical complications before diagnosis than diagnosis resulting from screening (27). Delay between the appearance of CF-related symptoms and diagnosis can result in adverse psychosocial effects for the child's family (36).

The traditional case definition for CF was based on a sweat chloride level of  $\geq 60$  mEq/L from pilocarpine iontophoresis (sweat test) and the presence of pulmonary disease or pancreatic insufficiency. Sweat testing consists of electrical-chemical stimulation of skin to produce sweat, collection of sweat on gauze pads or filter paper, and laboratory analysis of chloride content in collected sweat. In 1999, a CFF consensus panel developed a new case definition for CF based on multiple criteria: the presence of  $\geq 1$  characteristic phenotypic feature or a history of CF in a sibling or a positive newborn screening test, together with laboratory evidence of a *CFTR* abnormality as documented by 1) elevated sweat chloride concentrations, 2) identification of two *CFTR* mutations associated with CF, or 3) in vivo demonstration of characteristic abnormalities in ion transport across the nasal epithelium (*37,15*). Although a sweat chloride level of 60 mEq/L is diagnostic, infants with CF often have initial sweat values of 30-59 mEq/L (38,39). Sweat testing can be performed accurately on the majority of infants at age 2–3 weeks; however, not all infants have sufficient quantities of sweat for reliable testing (40).

Classic CF, which usually manifests in early childhood, is associated with lung disease and pancreatic insufficiency. Certain persons with mild CFTR dysfunction, who often receive a diagnosis as adolescents or adults, are said to have nonclassic or atypical CF (15), defined as having sweat chloride results below the diagnostic level, milder phenotypic symptoms, and two identified CFTR mutations, at least one of which is associated with less severe disease (40). Sweat chloride levels in infants of 30-59 mEq/L are ambiguous, because persons with sweat chlorides in this range might have either classic or nonclassic CF, or they might not have received a diagnosis of CF (38,39). Because cohorts detected by screening might contain more persons with nonclassic CF with milder phenotypes, benefits of screening could be overstated. Ultimately, a better understanding of the natural history of the disorder in infants with two CFTR mutations and borderline or normal sweat test results is needed to provide appropriate education, counseling, treatment, and follow-up.

## **Treatment of CF**

Children with diagnosed CF receive different treatments, depending on the type of health-care facility and individual characteristics. Children who are identified as having pancreatic insufficiency receive pancreatic enzymes and fat-soluble vitamin supplements. Specialized CF centers vary in their approaches to the use of antibiotics for treatment and, in certain places, prophylaxis of respiratory infections (41,42). Persons with CF receive antibiotic treatment (oral, inhaled, or intravenous) for pulmonary exacerbations, characterized by increased cough and sputum production. Regular microbiologic monitoring and aggressive antibiotic treatment of infections have been demonstrated to reduce the number of children who experience chronic *P. aeruginosa* infections (43). Physiotherapy and inhalation of nebulized mucolytics are also common components of treatment regimens. To receive optimal treatment, children with CF should be examined at specialized CF centers that offer a comprehensive, multidisciplinary approach to CF care and that can closely monitor the development of respiratory infections and provide nutritional and psychosocial support (4). CFF accredits a national network of such centers, publishes clinical practice guidelines, and convenes consensus panels on CF care.

Changes in CF care since the early 1980s have included 1) use of enteric-coated pancreatic enzymes to reduce the fre-

quency of both gastrointestinal symptoms and nutritional complications, 2) replacement of low-fat diets with high-fat diets to offset the higher rates of fat malabsorption, 3) improved mucolytics and airway clearance techniques, and 4) use of more effective antibiotics to treat lung infections. These changes have contributed to substantial improvements in measures of malnutrition, lung function, and mortality among children and adolescents with CF. For example, during 1985–2001, predicted survival of persons with CF in the United States increased from age 25 years to age 33 years (20). During 1985–1999, mortality rates for children aged 2–15 years declined 45%–70%, mortality rates for persons aged 16–20 years were stable, and mortality rates for persons aged 21–40 years decreased 14%–20% (44).

Recent pharmacologic advances hold the promise of more improvements in the health of persons with CF. For example, palivizumab, a monoclonal antibody against respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), has been demonstrated to be safe and effective in reducing RSV infections and hospitalizations among infants and young children at high risk (45). Hospitalization is one of the leading risk factors for the early acquisition of *P*. aeruginosa (23). Since 1994, new approaches have become available to slow the progression of pulmonary damage or to treat pulmonary bacterial infections in persons with CF (e.g., recombinant human DNase, inhaled tobramycin, and azithromycin) (46-49). Antibiotics and anti-inflammatory drugs have been reported to slow decline in lung function (31,50). Research is ongoing to determine the appropriate use of such drugs in infants and young children. In addition, two new therapies that directly target the mechanism of CF disease by improving chloride ion transport are in clinical trials (Preston Campbell, M.D., Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, personal communication, May 3, 2004).

## **Prenatal Screening for CF**

CF can be identified before birth through prenatal screening and after birth through newborn screening. In 2001, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists recommended that pregnant women, especially those in higherprevalence populations defined by ethnicity, be offered screening for *CFTR* mutations (*51*). Carrier couples can choose prenatal diagnosis to determine whether a fetus has CF (defined by the presence of each parent's CF-associated mutation). Carrier testing for CF is offered by an unknown number of prenatal health-care providers. Preliminary data indicate that  $\leq$ 20% of pregnant women in the United States receiving prenatal care are being screened for CF (*52*).

Both the 1997 and 2003 workshops restricted their focus to newborn screening for CF as a state public health policy and did not address prenatal screening. The coexistence of two different screening programs for the same disorder deserves attention because of potential reciprocal effects and the opportunity for coordination of information provision. Prenatal screening for CF in other countries is reported to have led to a decrease in CF birth prevalence (53), but the majority of infants with CF will not be detected through prenatal screening. The sensitivity of prenatal screening for CF among the white population is  $\leq 78\%$  (54), much lower than that for newborn screening, and the sensitivity of prenatal testing in racial and ethnic minority populations is lower.<sup>§</sup> Research is needed to evaluate the effect in this country of offering carrier testing in prenatal care on newborn screening and vice versa.

# **Newborn Screening for CF**

As of 1997, three states (Colorado, Wisconsin, and Wyoming) had universal newborn screening programs for CF, and in three other states, screening was conducted at hospital discretion by a state public health laboratory (Montana), academic laboratories (Connecticut), or a commercial laboratory (Pennsylvania) (55). During January 1998-April 2004, universal CF newborn screening was begun in four additional states (Massachusetts, Mississippi, New York, and New Jersey). Two more states (Oklahoma and South Carolina) are expected to start universal screening for CF during 2004 (Table 1). In 2000, approximately 400,000 (10%) children born in the United States were screened for CF; this number is expected to increase to 800,000 by the end of 2004 (12). Healthcare providers can also order testing from private laboratories for disorders such as CF that are not included in state screening panels.

#### **Screening Protocols and Algorithms**

Multiple protocols and algorithms are used to screen newborns for CF (Table 1) (Box 1). All protocols begin with a first-tier phenotypic test that measures IRT in dried blood spots. Infants who have an elevated IRT measurement are then referred for further testing. The specific value used to decide whether IRT is sufficiently elevated to warrant further testing varies. Different lab kits for IRT produce varying distributions of IRT measures, and screening programs set cutoffs on the basis of evaluations of specimens from their own populations and the screening protocols and algorithms used (Table 2). Screening programs in five states (Colorado, Connecticut, Montana, New Jersey, and Wyoming) set absolute

<sup>§</sup> The sensitivity for carrier screening is lower because, to be identified as a carrier couple, both parents must have a mutation included in the mutation panel.

and selected charact		5, 1502-2004	
State	Year	Protocol	Comments
Colorado	1982	IRT*-repeat IRT	Pilot program
	1987	IRT-repeat IRT	Population-based <sup>†</sup>
Wisconsin	1985	IRT-repeat IRT	Pilot program, randomized trial
	1991	IRT–DNA (∆F508)	Pilot program, randomized trial
	1994	IRT–DNA (∆F508)	Population-based
	2002	IRT–DNA (multiple mutations)	Population-based
Wyoming	1988	IRT-repeat IRT	Population-based, informed consent required
Montana	1992	IRT-repeat IRT	Hospital-based <sup>§</sup>
Connecticut <sup>¶</sup>	1993	IRT-repeat IRT	Hospital-based
Connecticut**	1995	IRT– DNA ( $\Delta$ F508, multiple mutation	ns) Hospital-based
Pennsylvania	1995	IRT–DNA ( $\Delta$ F508, multiple mutation	s) Hospital-based
Massachusetts	1999	IRT–DNA (multiple mutations)	Pilot program, population based, informed consent required
New Jersey	2001	IRT–DNA (∆F508 only)	Population-based
New York	2002	IRT–DNA (multiple mutations)	Population-based
Mississippi	2003	IRT–DNA ( $\Delta$ F508, multiple mutation	s) Population-based
Oklahoma <sup>††</sup>	Fall 2004	IRT–DNA (multiple mutations)	Population-based
S. Carolina <sup>§§</sup>	Fall 2004	IRT-repeat IRT	Population-based

# TABLE 1. States with newborn screening programs that include cystic fibrosis, by year begun, type of protocol, whether mandated, and selected characteristics — United States, 1982–2004

Source: Wilfond BS, Gollust SE. Policy issues for expanding newborn screening programs: a look "behind the curtain" at cystic fibrosis newborn screening programs in the United States [Presentation]. Newborn Screening for Cystic Fibrosis Meeting, Atlanta, Georgia, November 21, 2003.

\* Immunoreactive trypsinogen.

<sup>†</sup> Screening offered to all infants in a state.

§ Screening provided to all infants born in selected hospitals.

<sup>¶</sup> University of Connecticut.

\*\* Yale University.

<sup>††</sup> Projected date (**Source:** Pamela King, M.P.A., Oklahoma State Department of Health, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, personal communication, March 15, 2004).

§§ Projected date (Source: Kathy Tomashitis, M.N.S., South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Columbia, South Carolina, personal communication, March 15, 2004).

cutoffs for a normal IRT value on the first newborn blood spot (range: 90–105 ng/mL). Programs in four other states (Connecticut, Massachusetts, New York, and Wisconsin) classify as abnormal specimens in the top 4%–5% of IRT values for a given day or month, and programs in two states (Mississippi and Pennsylvania) use the top 10% of daily IRT values (55).

Programs in five states (Colorado, Connecticut, Montana, South Carolina, and Wyoming) use an IRT-repeat IRT protocol. This protocol requires obtaining a second dried blood spot specimen at approximately age 2 weeks. At this age, elevated IRT values are more specific for CF because IRT values decrease with age in infants without CF. In Colorado, a routine second specimen is collected from all newborns, whereas in the other states, an elevated IRT on the first specimen necessitates collection of a second specimen from those infants. If the repeat IRT is elevated, with cutoffs varying among states, the child is referred for sweat testing. A sweat chloride of  $\geq 60 \text{ mEq/L}$ , confirmed by a second elevated sweat test result, is considered diagnostic for CF (*37*), although infants with CF might have lower sweat test results (*38,56*).

In eight states (Connecticut, Massachusetts, Mississippi, New Jersey, New York, Oklahoma, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin), screening programs use an IRT/DNA algorithm in which a single elevated IRT test is followed by DNA analysis on the same blood spot specimen to detect  $\geq 1$  specific *CFTR* mutation (55). Those newborns with a positive screening test (i.e., elevated IRT test and  $\geq 1$  detected mutation) are usually referred to a diagnostic center for a sweat chloride test to make a definitive diagnosis, although children with two diseasecausing mutations are considered to have CF, regardless of the results of the sweat test (37). The program in one state (New Jersey) tests for only the common  $\Delta$ F508 mutation although second specimens are requested for a repeat IRT test if no

	Action after elevated IRT* on 1 <sup>st</sup>	Result of DNA assay on 1 <sup>st</sup>		Result of repeat DNA assay on 1 <sup>st</sup>		Result of IRT assay on 2 <sup>nd</sup>	
Protocol	specimen	specimen	Action	specimen	Action	specimen	Action
IRT-repeat IRT	Test 2 <sup>nd</sup> specimen for IRT					Exceeds cutoff	Refer to sweat test
IRT-DNA (ΔF508)	DNA assay for ΔF508 alleles	1–2 mutations detected	Refer to sweat test				
		No mutation detected				Exceeds cutoff	Refer to sweat test
IRT-DNA (multiple mutations)	DNA assay for multiple mutations	1–2 mutations detected	Refer to sweat test				
IRT-DNA (ΔF508, multiple	DNA assay for ΔF508 alleles	2 mutations detected	Refer to sweat test or treatment	2 mutations detected	Refer to sweat test or treatment		
mutations)		1 mutation detected	DNA assay for multiple mutations	1 mutation detected	Inconclusive result reported		
* Immunoreactive	trypsinogen.						

#### BOX 1. Screening protocols for cystic fibrosis

mutation is detected. Programs in three other states (Connecticut, Mississippi, and Pennsylvania) test first for the  $\Delta$ F508 mutation and, if one  $\Delta$ F508 mutant allele is detected, apply a multiple-mutation panel to screen for other mutations. Programs in the remaining four states (Massachusetts, New York, Oklahoma, and Wisconsin) use or plan to use a multiplemutation panel to test all specimens with an elevated IRT.

Programs in all seven states (Connecticut, Massachusetts, Mississippi, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin) that have implemented IRT-DNA algorithms also include a protocol that identifies infants without an identified mutation but with a highly elevated IRT value as being at risk for CF, because a child might have mutations for which a test is not administered. The cutoff of a highly elevated IRT is variable; cutoffs representing an IRT value of 99.8% or 99.9% of screened newborns or absolute values of 130, 170, or 200 ng/mL are used in different programs (55). Programs in three states (Massachusetts, New Jersey, and New York) treat such infants as positive screens and request that they be referred for sweat testing unless a repeat specimen with a normal IRT is first received. Programs in the remaining four states (Connecticut, Mississippi, Pennsylvania, and Wisconsin) report the results but do not request referrals for sweat testing (55).

Screening programs that use mutation testing as part of their screening algorithm can choose from commercially available reagents for detection of multiple mutations (17,57), all of which have been developed to address the prenatal testing market's response to recommendations from the American College of Medical Genetics (ACMG) (58). The ACMG panel was chosen on the basis of the relative frequency of CFTR mutations among U.S. residents with CF (58) but did not take into account genotype-phenotype associations among persons with varying levels of severity of CF (25) or mutations detected with high frequency among certain racial/ethnic populations (59). Inclusion of a greater number of CFTR mutations in newborn screening panels will increase the number of persons identified as carriers and the numbers receiving either an ambiguous diagnosis of CF or a diagnosis of classic CF (17). Determination of which mutations should be included in panels for newborn screening should be developed by a workgroup of newborn screening specialists and persons with CF expertise.

#### **Analytic Validity**

The analytic validity of testing indicates the extent to which laboratory test results are reported accurately. Certain ana-

State	Years covered	No. screened	IRT* cutoff on first specimen	DNA testing used for screening	Direct referral of ultrahigh IRT	Reported clinical sensitivity (excluding MI <sup>†</sup> )
Colorado§	1982–1987	279,399	140 ng/mL	No	NA¶	93%
Colorado** <sup>††</sup>	1988–2002	873,940	105 ng/mL (since 2000)	No	NA	95%
Wisconsin <sup>§§</sup>	1988–1991	220,862	180 ng/mL	No	NA	87%
Wisconsin <sup>§§</sup>	1991–1994	104,308	110 ng/mL	$\Delta$ F508 only	No	94%
Wisconsin <sup>¶¶</sup>	1994–2002	509,794	96% of daily average***	$\Delta$ F508 only	No <sup>†††</sup>	94%
Wisconsin <sup>¶¶</sup>	2002–2003	90,142	96% of daily average	25 mutations	No <sup>†††</sup>	95% (99%) <sup>§§§</sup>
Massachusetts (observed) <sup>111</sup>	1998–2003	323,506	95% of monthly average	1999–2002: 16 mutations; 2002–2004: 25–27 mutations	IRT >99.8% referred	99%
Massachusetts <sup>¶¶¶****</sup> (assuming no direct referral of ultrahigh IRT)	1998–2003	323,506	95% of monthly average	1999–2002: 16 mutations; 2002–2004: 25–27 mutations	No	96%
Massachusetts <sup>¶¶¶****</sup> (assuming single mutation testing and no direct referral of ultrahigh IRT)	1998–2003	323,506	95% of monthly average	$\Delta$ F508 only	No	86%

\* Immunoreactive trypsinogen.

<sup>†</sup> Meconium ileus.

§ Source: Hammond KB, Abman SH, Sokol RJ, Accurso FJ. Efficacy of statewide neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis by assay of trypsinogen concentrations. N Engl J Med 1991;325:769–74.

<sup>¶</sup> Not applicable; referral of infants with ultrahigh IRT values despite no mutation detected is relevant only to IRT/DNA screening protocols.

- \*\* Source: Sontag MK, Hammond KB, Zielenski J, Wagener JS, Accurso FJ. Immunoreactive trypsinogen-based newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Colorado: recall rate, genotyping and borderline sweat test results. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- <sup>++</sup> Data for 1982–1987 are subtracted from the cumulative numbers for 1982–2002 presented in Holtzman NA. Routine screening for cystic fibrosis: not yet. Pediatrics 1984;73:98–9.
- §§ Source: Gregg RG, Simantel A, Farrell PM, et al. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Wisconsin: comparison of biochemical and molecular methods. Pediatrics 1997;99:819–24.
- Source: Rock MJ, Hoffman G, Laessig RH, Kopish GJ, Litsheim TJ, Farrell PM. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Wisconsin: nine years' experience with routine trypsinogen/DNA testing. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).

\*\*\* During 1994–1999, Wisconsin set the IRT cutoff at the 94<sup>th</sup> percentile, which was changed to the 96<sup>th</sup> percentile in 1999. No cases detected during 1994– 1999 declined between the 94<sup>th</sup> and 96<sup>th</sup> percentiles.

<sup>+++</sup> Wisconsin reports children with IRT >99.9% and without a detected mutation as "possible abnormal" but does not refer patients for sweat testing. Half of false-negatives during 1994–2002 were in this category.

§§§ Observed sensitivity was 95% on the basis of a limited number of cases; predicted sensitivity for the new algorithim was 99%.

Source: Comeau AM, Parad RB, Dorkin HL, et al. Population-based newborn screening for genetic disorders when multiple mutation DNA testing is incorporated: a cystic fibrosis newborn screening model demonstrating increased sensitivity but more carrier detections. Pediatrics 2004;113:1573–81.

\*\*\*\* Calculations projected for hypothetical screening protocols on the basis of the numbers of cases that presumably would have been detected on the basis of observed values by using a more comprehensive protocol.

lytic errors might be detected through program follow-up; for example, during 21 years of screening, the Colorado program has reported four false-negative screens resulting from laboratory errors among 1,153,339 live births (18). To monitor analytical validity on an ongoing basis, newborn screening laboratories should participate in a proficiency testing program. Starting in 2002, CDC implemented a proficiency testing program for monitoring laboratory performance in testing IRT and  $\Delta$ F508 mutations in newborn dried blood spots (60). A separate proficiency testing program for clinical laboratories performing CF carrier testing by using multiple mutation panels is also available (*61*).

## **Clinical Validity**

The clinical validity of a screening test refers to the ability of a test to detect a person with a particular disorder. Determination of the clinical validity of a screening test requires the ascertainment of missed cases detected clinically as well as

#### TABLE 2. Clinical sensitivity of newborn screening for cystic fibrosis

the tracking of final diagnostic status of all those with positive screens. Newborn screening algorithms for CF routinely result in false-negatives (62). Certain persons with CF either have IRT values below the cutoff used for screening (63) or are missed in the DNA stage of IRT/DNA screening because they do not have a mutation included in the mutation panel used by the screening program. Data on the clinical sensitivity of newborn screening for CF from screening programs in the United States have been published (Table 2). Children with meconium ileus might have low IRT values and be missed by screening but are detected soon after birth anyway (4); 90%-95% of children with CF without meconium ileus are reported to be detected by IRT-repeat IRT screening (64-66,18). IRT/DNA screening and follow-up protocols that use multiple mutation panels and directly refer children with extremely high IRT values for sweat testing have achieved clinical sensitivity of  $\geq 98\%$  (17).

The number of false-positive<sup>¶</sup> results in newborn screening tests for conditions other than CF is often >50 times the number of cases of diagnosed disease (64). In comparison, the number of false-positive results from newborn screening for CF is moderate. Among states using IRT/DNA algorithms, the ratio of false-positive screens to true-positive cases is reported to be 9.5:1 in Wisconsin (57), 12:1 in Massachusetts (67), and 25:1 in New York (Kenneth A. Pass, Ph.D., New York State Department of Health, personal communication, August 19, 2004) (Table 2). In Colorado, which performs repeat IRT measures on two specimens, five false-positive CF screening results are reported for every true-positive, whereas if positive results had been reported based on an elevated IRT value from the initial specimen, the average ratio of falsepositives to true-positives would have been 30:1 (18).

Although the number of false-positive screens for CF is reasonable relative to other newborn screening tests, screening for CF carries an additional responsibility for providing genetic counseling to families of screen-positive children who actually carry a *CFTR* mutation despite having a negative diagnostic test. Reporting of CF carrier status is one outcome of newborn screening, which has the potential to be both a benefit and a risk for families of carriers. Because newborn screening identifies considerably more carriers than children with CF, benefits and harms to families of carriers should be considered in assessing newborn screening for CF.

#### Costs

The laboratory cost of CF newborn screening varies with the screening algorithm but is comparable to that of newborn screening tests in common use (64). Data from the Wisconsin screening program indicate that the laboratory cost of IRT screening is \$1.50/test, the cost of a single-mutation analysis is \$20.50, and the cost of a multiple-mutation test is \$50.70 (68). These numbers yield average costs of \$2.35 for an IRT/ DNA algorithm with a single mutation and \$3.60 for an IRT/ DNA algorithm with a multiple-mutation panel. A full accounting of the costs of implementing newborn screening for CF would require additional information on the costs of follow-up, diagnosis, counseling, and providing care. In addition, averted diagnostic and treatment costs, if any, should be factored in. A preliminary analysis indicates that averted diagnostic costs could cover the majority of initial screening costs (69).

# **Scientific Evidence**

# **Selection of Studies**

In preparation for the workshop, CDC searched the MEDLINE<sup>®</sup> database of medical literature for articles on newborn screening for CF published since the 1997 workshop that discussed health outcomes or psychosocial outcomes in groups of children identified with CF through newborn screening in comparison with children identified through other means. In addition, review articles were obtained and reference lists searched to identify additional articles. Subsequently, a decision was made to include findings from previously published studies, which were identified by searches of reference lists.

An analytic framework was developed that modeled indirect links from newborn screening to nutritional status and from nutritional status to lung function and survival (Figure). Accordingly, a literature search was also conducted to locate studies of associations between nutritional status among children and adolescents with CF and lung function or survival outcomes. This search used the MEDLINE<sup>®</sup> database and soliciting of specialists for additional studies.

A planning committee for the workshop identified researchers worldwide examining outcomes in relation to newborn screening for CF. At least one person from each research study group was invited to present the study's findings at the 2003 workshop. Certain presentations were based on research that had already been accepted for publication or was in press. In addition, CFF decided to cosponsor a peer-reviewed supple-

Refers to persons with a positive screening result who do not receive a diagnosis of disease. A positive screening result might provide useful information even absent a diagnosis. Infants with a positive screening result for CF identified using an IRT/DNA algorithm who do not receive a diagnosis of CF are carriers with one *CFTR* mutation (17).

ment to the *Journal of Pediatrics* to which presenters were invited to submit papers for publication; 15 papers cited in this report are scheduled for publication in that supplement.

# Analytic Framework for Evaluating Effects of CF Newborn Screening

To evaluate the potential benefits and risks of newborn screening for CF, CDC applied an analytic framework to interpret evidence of clinical utility (i.e., the net balance of health outcomes) of earlier identification and treatment (Figure). This framework draws in part on the approach used by the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) (70). It considers both potential benefits and harms from screening; harms are classified separately as adverse effects from screening and those from diagnosis or treatment. The benefits of screening flow from early, asymptomatic detection and can be classified in terms of health benefits to the affected person and psychosocial benefits to persons and families. To classify health benefits, CDC used the Strength of Recommendations Taxonomy (SORT), a recently proposed patient-centered approach to grading evidence in medical literature (Box 2) (71). The SORT framework does not include psychosocial outcomes, which constitute key benefits and risks from newborn screening for CF and should be considered in policy recommendations.

The potential psychosocial risks of screening include factors associated with 1) false-positives (e.g., unnecessary testing and possibly unnecessary treatment for the child, undue parental anxiety, and desensitization of providers), 2) falsenegatives (e.g., potential delay in diagnosis for child and false reassurance for patients), 3) carrier reporting (e.g., possibly unwanted information and fear of stigmatization or insurance discrimination), and 4) misinformation (e.g., errors in communication or misunderstanding of results). Potential harms to CF patients of early detection and treatment as a result of newborn screening include side effects of therapies (e.g., drug resistance and toxicities) and earlier exposure (through person-to-person transmission from older children with CF) to bacteria associated with chronic airway infection in CF.

The SORT taxonomy is used to assess the clinical effectiveness of interventions based on a structured review of research findings (71). The SORT framework categorizes studies into three levels (Levels 1, 2, and 3) on the basis of study design and type of outcomes assessed. The total evidence for an intervention is given one of three grades (A, B, or C) on the basis of the assigned levels of the individual studies.

The SORT taxonomy distinguishes two classes of health outcomes: 1) *disease-oriented outcomes* (e.g., intermediate, histopathologic, physiologic, or surrogate results) that might reflect improvements in patient outcomes and 2) *patient-oriented outcomes* (e.g., reduced morbidity, reduced mortality, symptom improvement, improved quality of life, or lower cost) that help patients live longer or better lives (71).

In the SORT framework, either a high-quality randomized controlled trial (RCT) or a meta-analysis of RCTs that demonstrates improved patient-oriented outcomes is considered





## BOX 2. Strength of Recommendation Taxonomy (SORT)

Level	Definition
А	Recommendation based on consistent and good-quality patient-oriented evidence*
В	Recommendation based on inconsistent or limited-quality patient-oriented evidence
С	Recommendation based on consensus, usual practice, opinion, disease-oriented evidence, <sup>†</sup> and case series for studies of diagnosis, treatment, prevention, or screening

	Type of study					
Study quality	Diagnosis	Treatment/Prevention/ Screening	Prognosis			
Level 1: high-quality patient-oriented evidence	<ul> <li>Validated clinical decision rule</li> <li>Systematic review (SR)/ meta-analysis of high- quality studies</li> <li>High-quality diagnostic cohort study<sup>§</sup></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>SR/meta-analysis of randomized control trials (RCTs) with consistent findings</li> <li>High-quality individual RCT<sup>¶</sup></li> <li>All or none study**</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>SR/meta-analysis of high-quality cohort studies</li> <li>Prospective cohort study with good follow-up</li> </ul>			
Level 2: limited-quality patient-oriented evidence	<ul> <li>Unvalidated clinical decision rule</li> <li>SR/meta-analysis of lower-quality studies or studies with inconsistent findings</li> <li>Lower-quality diagnostic cohort study or diagnostic case-control study</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>SR/meta-analysis of lower- quality clinical trials or studies with inconsistent findings</li> <li>Lower-quality clinical trial</li> <li>Cohort study</li> <li>Case-control study</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>SR/meta-analysis of lower-quality cohort studies or studies with inconsistent results</li> <li>Retrospective cohort study or prospective cohort study with poor follow-up</li> <li>Case-control study</li> <li>Case series</li> </ul>			
Level 3: other evidence	Consensus guidelines, extrapolat evidence (intermediate or physic ment, prevention, or screening	tions from bench research, usual prace ologic outcomes only), and case series	ctice, opinion, disease-oriented s for studies of diagnosis, treat-			
		Consistency across studies				
Consistent	<ul> <li>Majority of studies reported similar or at least coherent conclusions (i.e., differences are explainable), or</li> <li>If high-quality and up-to-date systematic reviews or meta-analyses exist, they support the recommendation.</li> </ul>					
Inconsistent	<ul> <li>Considerable variation among</li> <li>If high-quality and up-to-date evidence in favor of the recommendation</li> </ul>	study findings and lack of coherenc systematic reviews or meta-analyses amendation.	e, or exist, they do not find consistent			

Source: Ebell MH, Siwek J, Weiss BD, et al. Strength of recommendation taxonomy (SORT): a patient-centered approach to grading evidence in the medical literature. J Am Board Fam Pract 2004;17:59–67.

\* Measures outcomes that matter to patients: morbidity, mortality, symptom improvement, cost reduction, or quality of life.

<sup>†</sup> Measures intermediate, physiologic, or surrogate endpoints that might reflect improvements in patient outcomes (e.g., blood pressure, blood chemistry, physiologic function, and pathologic findings).

<sup>§</sup> That is, cohort design, adequate size, adequate spectrum of patients, blinding, and a consistent, well-defined reference standard.

<sup>¶</sup> Allocation concealed, blinding if possible, intention-to-treat analysis, adequate statistical power, and adequate follow-up (i.e., >80%).

\*\* One in which the treatment causes a dramatic change in outcomes (e.g., antibiotics, meningitis, or surgery for appendicitis) that precludes study in a controlled trial.

Level-1 evidence. Information on patient-oriented outcomes from a lower-quality clinical trial, cohort study, or casecontrol study constitutes Level-2 evidence. All other types of research studies, including case series, are classified as Level 3, along with all studies, even RCTs, that provide information restricted to disease-oriented outcomes.

For the SORT framework to be applied, endpoints used in evaluations of newborn screening for CF are classified as either patient-oriented or disease-oriented. The approach taken in this report is to classify endpoints that are collected during routine clinical monitoring of individuals with CF as diseaseoriented outcomes. These include measures of nutritional and pulmonary outcomes (e.g., height and weight, spirometric measures of lung function, and chest radiograph scores). In this analysis, survival, quality of life, and cost (including hospitalizations and invasive therapies) were classified as patientoriented outcomes. Cognitive function, which is not routinely assessed in persons with CF, was also classified as a patientoriented outcome because of its direct link to quality of life and because it is not a surrogate outcome in CF. The classification of certain endpoints as disease-oriented or patientoriented outcomes has implications for assessment of evidence on newborn screening for CF. In particular, growth retardation might be regarded as both a patient-oriented outcome and a disease-oriented outcome. The high demand for expensive growth hormone therapy, which results in moderate gains in linear growth for children with CF who have low heightfor-age (72,73), indicates that below-normal stature might be viewed as a patient-oriented outcome. In addition, growth retardation among children with CF has been demonstrated to be a strong predictor of survival. An RCT indicating reduction in growth retardation would be classified as Level-1 evidence if this outcome were classified as patient-oriented but as Level-3 evidence if it were classified as disease-oriented.

The SORT approach integrates the strength of evidence approach (74) with the type of health outcomes considered in establishing a hierarchy of evidence (71). In the SORT taxonomy, an A-level recommendation requires consistent and high-quality, patient-oriented evidence, including consistent findings from at least two high-quality randomized controlled trials. A B-level recommendation requires patient-oriented evidence (i.e., an improvement in morbidity, mortality, symptoms, quality of life, or cost) based on Level-1 or Level-2 evidence. A C-level recommendation is based on evidence relating to disease-oriented outcomes from any type of study or for patient-oriented outcomes from other types of observational studies, case series, or opinions of specialists (71). A limitation of the SORT framework for evaluating the overall strength of evidence for newborn screening tests is the scarcity of RCTs. CF is the only condition for which two RCTs of newborn screening have been conducted. This puts newborn screening at a disadvantage, with a B-level recommendation realistically the highest that can be assigned to any newborn screening test by using this framework.

This report summarizes what is known about the strength of evidence for health benefits of newborn screening for CF, including assessments of the strengths and limitations of study designs and the consistency and magnitude of benefits reported. However, the report is not a formal systematic evidence review that would form the basis for an evidence-based practice guideline (70, 71, 74, 75). Systematic reviews involve a lengthy process in which teams of reviewers conduct structured reviews with blinded assessments of study quality. The only newborn screening tests endorsed by USPSTF on the basis of systematic reviews are for PKU, congenital hypothyroidism, and hemoglobinopathies (75).

# **Evidence for Benefits**

# **Sources of Data**

Information to assess the effect of newborn screening for CF on health benefits for children with CF is available from three types of investigations: 1) RCTs of newborn screening, 2) geographic and temporal comparisons of screened and unscreened cohorts, and 3) assessments of outcomes of persons with CF reported to registry databases. The methods of two randomized trials of newborn screening for CF and four observational studies comparing health outcomes among screened and unscreened cohorts are summarized (Table 3).

## **RCT**s

The Wisconsin CF Neonatal Screening Project randomly assigned neonates born in Wisconsin during 1985-1994 to either a screened or control group (28,76) (Table 3). Neonatal CF screening was performed on blood spots from all subjects, but positive results were reported only to families in the screened group. Positive results were released to families in the control group if any of the following occurred: 1) parents requested the results, 2) CF was diagnosed conventionally, or 3) the child reached age 4 years and a diagnosis of CF had not been established. Subjects with a diagnosis of CF in both groups were entered (after informed consent) into a longitudinal protocol that specified evaluation methods and standardized therapeutic interventions. Caregivers and investigators were blinded to group identity after the first visit. The study protocol included follow-up after diagnosis with CF every 6 weeks during the first year of life and every 3 months thereaf-

Study location and reference	No. in screened cohort*	No. in unscreened cohort <sup>†</sup>	Screening period <sup>§</sup>	Follow-up (yrs)
Randomized controlled trials				
Wisconsin CF Neonatal Screening Project, United States <sup>¶</sup>	56**	48**	1985–1994	16
Wales/West Midlands, United Kingdom <sup>††</sup>	58 (12)	44 (7)	1985–1989	4
Comparisons of screened and unscreened cohorts				
New South Wales/Australia (historic controls) <sup>§§</sup>	60	57	Screened: 1981–1984 Unscreened: 1978–1981	15
Netherlands (geographic controls and historic controls) <sup>¶¶</sup>	24 (18)	Unscreened: 29 (24) Postscreened: 39 (30)	Screened: 1973–1979 Unscreened: 1973–1979 Postscreened: 1979–1985	17
France: Brittany versus Loire– Atlantique***	77	36	1989–1998	10
Italy: Veneto/Trentino versus Friuli Venezia Giulia/Romagna <sup>+++</sup>	58	Meconium ileus: 45 Pancreatic insufficiency: 75 Pancreatic sufficiency: 19	1973–1981	_
Italy: Veneto versus Sicily <sup>†††</sup>	126 (Veneto)§§§	152 (Sicily) <sup>§§§</sup>	1983–1992	_

TABLE 3. Characteristics of studies of health outcomes in screened (S) and unscreened cohorts of children with cystic fibrosis (CF)

\* Numbers of subjects for whom data were available at age 4 years are in parentheses.

<sup>†</sup> Numbers of subjects for whom longitudinal follow-up data were available are in parentheses.

§ Substantive improvements in CF care were introduced in the 1980s, including phase-out of low-fat diets, introduction of enteric-coated pancreatic enzymes, and more aggressive antibiotic therapies, including inhaled antibiotics.

Sources: Farrell PM, Kosorok MR, Rock MJ, et al. Early diagnosis of cystic fibrosis through neonatal screening prevents severe malnutrition and improves long-term growth. Wisconsin Cystic Fibrosis Neonatal Screening Study Group. Pediatrics 2001;107:1–13. Farrell PM, Li Z, Kosorok MR, et al. Bronchopulmonary disease in children with cystic fibrosis after early or delayed diagnosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2003;168:1100–8.

\*\* Includes only patients without meconium ileus.

<sup>+†</sup> Source: Chatfield S, Owen G, Ryley HC, et al. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis in Wales and the West Midlands: clinical assessment after five years of screening. Arch Dis Child 1991;66:29–33.

§§ Sources: Wilcken B, Chalmers G. Reduced morbidity in patients with cystic fibrosis detected by neonatal screening. Lancet 1985;2(8468):1319–21. McKay KO, Waters DL, Gaskin KJ. The influence of newborn screening for cystic fibrosis on pulmonary outcomes in New South Wales. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).

Source: Merelle ME, Schouten JP, Gerritsen J, Dankert-Roelse JE. Influence of neonatal screening and centralized treatment on long-term clinical outcome and survival of CF patients. Eur Respir J 2001;18:306–15.

\*\*\* **Source:** Siret D, Bretaudeau G, Branger B, et al. Comparing the clinical evolution of cystic fibrosis screened neonatally to that of cystic fibrosis diagnosed from clinical symptoms: a 10-year retrospective study in a French region (Brittany). Pediatr Pulmonol 2003;35:342–9.

ttt Source: Mastella G, Zanolla L, Castellani C, et al. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis: long-term clinical balance. Pancreatology 2001;1:531–7.

§§§ Includes all patients in each region. The majority of subjects in Veneto received diagnoses by newborn screening.

ter, through age 17 years. All children received care at one of two CFF-accredited care centers.

The Wisconsin RCT had two key limitations, both of which could lead to underestimation of the magnitude of health benefits of screening in that study. First, despite randomization of study subjects, substantially more subjects with  $\Delta$ F508 alleles (p<0.05) or pancreatic insufficiency (p<0.05) were identified in the screened group (77). Second, during the first 6 years of the study, premature acquisition of *P. aeruginosa* occurred among screened children who were followed at one of the two CF care centers participating in the study that had a small, crowded waiting room in which infants and older children with established infections mixed (*30*). The median pseudomonas-free period was 52 weeks among screened infants seen at the first center and 289 weeks among those followed up at the second center, which segregated children enrolled in the study from other patients (76).

In the United Kingdom, all neonates born in Wales and the West Midlands during 1985–1989 were randomly allocated to undergo or not undergo CF screening on an alternate-week basis (78) (Table 3). Because no screening was performed in the control group, an unknown number of undiagnosed cases of CF in this group were not ascertained. A review of registry data revealed previously unknown CF-related deaths among children in the unscreened group (79). No specific treatment and follow-up protocol existed in the study. Children who

received a diagnosis of CF through screening were supposed to be followed annually at a CF care center until age 5 years; however, a substantial number of unscreened children with CF did not receive care at a CF care center (79). Underascertainment in the control group, lack of standardized treatment protocols, and short, uneven follow-up indicate that this is a lower-quality clinical trial that would yield Level-2 rather than Level-1 evidence.

## **Cohort Studies**

An observational study in Australia compared outcomes among children with CF born in New South Wales during the 3 years before the introduction of CF newborn screening in July 1981 (and who therefore received a diagnosis conventionally) with those born during July 1981–July 1984 (80– 82) (Table 3). All analyses were conducted on an intent-to-treat basis, with children included in the screened cohort if they were born while screening was offered, regardless of mode of diagnosis. All subjects were followed at a single CF clinic. Clinical data were collected retrospectively from medical records at diagnosis and ages 1, 5, 10, and 15 years. Changes in clinical practice over the 16 years of the study might have influenced comparisons. Improved nutritional practices introduced during 1981–1983 could potentially have biased outcomes in favor of screening (81).

A pilot study used the albumin content of meconium to screen for CF in approximately half (45%) of all newborns born during 1973-1979 in a defined area in the northern Netherlands (83). Screening was not random; providers decided whether to offer screening, and parents could decide whether to participate. Investigators compared outcomes of the screened cohort (S) with two cohorts of children who received diagnoses clinically: one that received a diagnosis at the same time as the screened group (non-S) and one that received a diagnosis in the 6 years after the pilot screening project was discontinued (post-S) (83-85). CF care was provided at a local hospital with (54%) or without (46%) semiannual to annual visits at a specialized CF center. Follow-up and therapeutic protocols were not standardized. Clinical data were collected prospectively for 1980-1990 and retrospectively for 1990–1997, after an intent-to-treat analysis (85,86). The post-S group is not subject to selection bias, which might characterize the non-S group. More confidence can be placed in findings consistent for both comparison groups.

An observational study from France compared children with CF born during 1989–1998 in Brittany, which screened newborns for CF, with a comparison group of newborns in a neighboring region, Loire-Atlantique, which did not implement screening for CF and had comparable CF care (87) (Table 3). Standardized follow-up was provided for patients who received a diagnosis of CF, including monthly clinic visits for the first 6 months after diagnosis and quarterly clinic visits thereafter. Therapeutic management was standardized. Differential underascertainment did not appear to be a major problem in this study, because the same birth prevalence was observed in both areas. Primarily because of differing population size, the S cohort (n = 77) was larger than the non-S cohort (n = 36). The intent-to-treat principle was not followed because false-negative screening results (n = 5) were excluded from the S cohort; however, the limited number of excluded patients is unlikely to have affected the conclusions. In addition, the exclusion of children with meconium ileus in Brittany (n = 14) and Loire-Atlantique (n = 10) affected the two cohorts disproportionately.

Data from northeastern Italy have been used to compare outcomes among persons with CF detected by screening and symptoms. One analysis compared outcomes of persons with CF born during 1973-1981 in Veneto and Trentino and detected by newborn screening by meconium albumin testing with persons with CF diagnosed conventionally in Veneto and Trentino and two neighboring regions without screening (88) (Table 3). A second analysis compared outcome data on children with CF born during 1983-1992 in Veneto, where screening with CF was universal, with data on children with CF born in Sicily, where CF newborn screening was not practiced (88) (Table 3). Although the investigators reported that the two groups had similar frequencies of severe CFTR mutations and comparable treatment protocols, the two regions differ in socioeconomic status (89). Another analysis by other investigators compared persons with CF born during 1973-1992 who were examined at the CF center in Verona, distinguishing between those who received a diagnosis by newborn screening and those who received a diagnosis clinically (90).

Cohort studies have at least two limitations that decrease their usefulness as evidence for a causal effect of newborn screening for CF. First, historic controls, as used in both the Australian and Dutch studies, are subject to bias because of improvements in CF treatment over time (89). In the case of the Australian study, such changes might overstate the apparent benefits of screening, whereas in the Dutch analysis, the effect would be in the opposite direction. Second, concurrent controls from different regions are subject to bias from variation in the quality of CF care provided across regions (89).

## **Registry Studies**

Population-based CF registries in the United States and the United Kingdom have been used to model the effect of newborn screening on outcomes. The United Kingdom Cystic Fibrosis Database (UKCFD) was established in 1995 and includes data from 41 large specialist CF centers and 12 smaller CF clinics (91). One analysis of the UKCFD data compared outcomes for two groups of children aged 1–9 years, excluding those with meconium ileus: children who received a diagnosis on the basis of newborn screening before age 3 months (n = 184) and children who received a diagnosis on the basis of symptoms, excluding those with a positive family history (n = 950) (91).

In the United States, the CFF National Patient Registry (CFNPR) contains information on >23,000 persons with CF cared for through a national network of CFF-accredited CF care centers and affiliated satellite clinics. These centers and their affiliates provide integrated, multidisciplinary care and have collaborated to develop standardized data-collection protocols (*34*). CFNPR data are made available by CFF to researchers and have been used in numerous statistical studies of outcomes.

Registry data have at least three limitations. First, how persons were detected might be misclassified. For example, among 27,703 persons who appeared in CFNPR >1 time during 1986-2000, a total of 69 (8%) of 898 persons who reportedly received a diagnosis on the basis of newborn or prenatal screening did not receive their diagnosis until age >12 months (92), and 90 (10%) received a diagnosis before 1980 (93) even though screening was first introduced in the United States in 1982. Second, because persons detected by screening are more likely to have been born more recently and CF outcomes have improved over time, comparison of screened and unscreened groups that do not control for year of birth are subject to bias. Differences in race/ethnicity, genotype, pancreatic insufficiency, and birth year can be controlled in statistical analysis. Also, because newborn screening is closely correlated with region of birth, regional differences in quality of care might be difficult to separate from screening as an influence on CF outcomes. Finally, registry data, like all observational data, are subject to ascertainment bias (89). This is particularly a problem for studies that set a low cutoff for age of diagnosis (e.g., age 36 months). In the absence of screening, age at diagnosis varies substantially, and a person with milder clinical symptoms is more likely to receive a diagnosis at a later age.

# **Disease-Oriented Outcomes**

#### **Nutritional Outcomes**

The most convincing evidence of health outcomes from screening for CF is in the area of nutrition and growth (19,89,94). In the absence of early treatment, infants and children with CF are subject to growth failure and prolonged vitamin deficiency. Anthropometric measures of nutritional

status include height and weight, weight relative to height, and, for infants and young children, head circumference. The majority of studies have compared heights and weights to reference growth curves by using Z-scores, with a 1.0 difference in Z-score roughly corresponding to a difference of 1 SD in the reference curve (95). The absolute difference in weight or height for a given Z-score varies by age.

In 1997, the Wisconsin Cystic Fibrosis Neonatal Screening Project demonstrated that diagnosis resulting from newborn screening and early intervention was associated with better growth (28). A subsequent analysis that included growth measurements before age 4 years for children in the control group unblinded at that age and with more years of follow-up provided conclusive findings (77) (Table 4). When pooled across all ages with a statistical model that controlled for covariates and interaction terms, children in the screened cohort were substantially taller (p<0.01) and slightly heavier (p= 0.06) than children in the standard diagnosis (control) cohort (62). Visual inspection of the graphs reveals that differences in mean height-for-age persisted through age 10 years but that the difference in weight-for-age disappeared after age 4 years (62). No differences in weight-for-height were observed at any age. The magnitude of the difference in height-for-age Z-scores varied among children aged 4-10 years (range: 0.2-0.5) (62). The U.K. RCT did not report substantial differences in either weight or height through age 4 years; however, <20 children were followed for 4 years (78). The difference in findings might also reflect differences in follow-up care, which was not standardized in the U.K. study.

Decreased risk of chronic malnutrition or growth retardation, typically defined as being below the 5<sup>th</sup> or 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles for height or length relative to age, might be more important from a clinical perspective than mean height-forage, because it is associated with increased risk of childhood morbidity and death (96-98). The percentages of children in the Wisconsin RCT being below the 10<sup>th</sup> percentiles for height-for-age and weight-for-age were substantially lower in the screened group, adjusting for covariates (e.g., age and genotype) (p<0.01) (77). In the control group, the percentage with low height-for-age declined from 40% at age 1 year to approximately 20% by age 4 years and remained stable, whereas the percentage in the screened group with low height-for-age was approximately 10%-15% through age 8 years. Among infants and young children, growth retardation without a known cause is referred to as *failure to thrive*. Failure to thrive is one of the leading developmental disorders among young children (97), as well as a common cause of pediatric hospitalization (98), and prevention of failure to thrive can reduce health-care costs and avert parental anxiety.

TABLE 4. Sum	mary of evide	nce on health	benefits from	ı newborn s	creening for	cystic fi	brosis (CF)	) comparing	screened a	and
unscreened g	oups measure	ed at same age	es							

Location	Growth and nutrition	Bacterial colonization	Lung function	Pulmonary scores	Survival	Cognitive function	Care use
Randomized cor	trolled trial						
Wisconsin	Significant differences in height Z-score and percentage low height and weight in favor of screened group* (p<0.01)	Shorter time to infection for screened children seen at one center but not overall <sup>†</sup>	At age 7 years, 12% of screened, 25% of controls <90% forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV <sub>1</sub> ) n.s. <sup>§¶</sup> **	Chest radiograph scores significantly worse at age 12 years in screened group, but no significant difference after controlling for infections**		Insignificant difference of 5 points on Cognitive Skills Index; for subset with vitamin E deficiency, significant difference of 12.5 points <sup>††</sup> (p<0.05)	Hospital use by 51% in screened group and 34% of control group; no control for confounding by genotype or infections <sup>§§</sup>
Wales and West Midlands	No significant difference in weight or height¶¶			No difference at ages 1–4 years <sup>¶¶</sup>	Four CF-related deaths in 71 unscreened children versus 0/71 among screened cohort (p<0.05)***		Screened cohort spent 19.2 days in hospital in first year of life versus 27.0 days for unscreened children (p<0.01) <sup>¶¶</sup>
Cohort study							
Australia	Difference in height in favor of screened group significant at ages 1 and 5 years <sup>†††</sup>		Significant difference in $FEV_1$ in favor of screened group at ages 5, 10, and 15 years (p<0.01) <sup>†††§§§</sup>	Significant difference in chest radiographs in favor of screened group at age 15 years (p<0.05) <sup>§§§</sup>	Death rate 47% lower among screened cohort, n.s. <sup>¶¶¶</sup>		Screened cohort spent 4 days in hospital during first 2 years of life versus 27 days for unscreened cohort <sup>¶¶¶</sup>
France	Differences in height Z-scores of 0.3–0.6 in favor of screened group significant at ages 1, 3, and 5 years (p<0.05)****	No difference****	No difference****	Better chest radiograph and clinical scores for screened children (p<0.05)****	3 CF-related deaths in 36 unscreened children versus 0/77 in screened cohort (p<0.05)****		Hospitalizations among 49% of screened and 86% of unscreened cohort (p<0.0001)****
Italy — geographic controls (Sicily)	Differences in height in favor of screened group significant at ages 0–2 years through ages 14–16 years (p<0.01) <sup>††††</sup>				18 deaths in 152 unscreened children versus 2/126 in screened cohort (p<0.001) <sup>††††</sup>		
Italy — within- region controls	Differences in height in favor of screened group significant at ages 6–8 years through ages 14–16 years (p<0.01) <sup>++++</sup>				No difference in mortality at age <10 years <sup>1111§§§§</sup>		

	Growth and	Bacterial		Pulmonary		Cognitive	
Location	nutrition	colonization	Lung function	scores	Survival	function	Care use
Cohort study							
Netherlands — contemporaneous controls	Height Z-score greater by 0.42 for screened group, n.s. <sup>¶¶¶¶</sup>		Higher scores in screened group, n.s. <sup>¶¶¶¶</sup>		Adjusted relative risk of dying 57% lower for screened group, n.s. <sup>¶¶¶*****</sup>		
Netherlands Post–screening controls	Height Z-score lower by 0.17 in screened group, n.s. <sup>¶¶¶¶</sup>		No difference <sup>¶¶¶¶</sup>		Adjusted relative risk of dying 65% lower for screened group, n.s. <sup>¶¶¶¶</sup>		
Registry							
United Kingdom Cystic Fibrosis Database	Height Z-score higher by 0.32 in screened group than in clinical diagnosis group (p<0.005); controlling for genotype 0.22, n.s. <sup>†††††</sup>	Lower rates in screened group than in clinical diagnosis group at ages 1–3 years (p<0.005) 11111	No difference	Better chest radiograph and clinical scores at ages 1–3 years and ages 7–9 years (p<0.05) <sup>†††††</sup>			~20% lower use of high-cost therapies in screened group than in clinical diagnosis group at ages 1–3 years and ages 4–6 years (p<0.05) <sup>††††††</sup>
United States Cystic Fibrosis Foundation National Patient Registry		No difference <sup>§§§§</sup>	§ No difference <sup>§§§§§</sup>	3			No difference among those receiving diagnosis after 1986§§§§§11111
<ul> <li><sup>†</sup> Source: Kos children with</li> <li><sup>§</sup> Not significar</li> <li><sup>¶</sup> Source: Farr 2003:36:230-</li> </ul>	orok MR, Jalaluddii cystic fibrosis. Pedia nt rell PM, Li Z, Kosor -40	n M, Farrell PM, et atr Pulmonol 1998;2 ok MR, et al. Longi	al. Comprehensive 26:81–8. tudinal evaluation of	analysis of risk fac	tors for acquisition of disease in children	f <i>Pseudomonas a</i> with cystic fibrosis	<i>eruginosa</i> in young s. Pediatr Pulmonol
** <b>Source:</b> Farr Care Med 20	ell PM, Li Z, Kosoro 03;168:1100–8.	k MR, et al. Broncho	pulmonary disease	in children with cyst	ic fibrosis after early	or delayed diagnos	sis. Am J Respir Crit
<sup>††</sup> <b>Source:</b> Kos 2004;113.	cik RL, Farrell PM,	Kosorok MR, et al. (	Cognitive function of	children with cystic	fibrosis: deleterious	effect of early ma	Inutrition. Pediatrics
Source: Ros Source: Cha of screening.	enberg MA, Farrell tfield S, Owen G, Ry Arch Dis Child 199	PM. Assessing the c /ley HC, et al. Neona 1;66:29–33.	cost of cystic fibrosis atal screening for cys	diagnosis and treat tic fibrosis in Wales	tment. J Pediatr (supp and the West Midland	ol) (in press). ds: clinical assessr	ment after five years
*** <b>Source:</b> Dou 2001;31:363-	III IJ, Ryley HC, We -6.	ller P, Goodchild MC	C. Cystic fibrosis-rela	ated deaths in infan	cy and the effect of i	newborn screening	g. Pediatr Pulmonol
**** Source: Wate §§§ Source: Mck (suppl) (in pre	ers DL, Wilcken B, Ir Kay KO, Waters DL, ( ess).	wing L, et al. Clinical Gaskin KJ. The influe	l outcomes of newbo ence of newborn scre	rn screening for cys eening for cystic fibr	tic fibrosis. Arch Dis C osis on pulmonary ou	child Fetal Neonata Itcomes in New So	I Ed 1999;80:F1–7. uth Wales. J Pediatr
<b>Source:</b> Wild **** <b>Source:</b> Sire	ken B, Chalmers G t D, Bretaudeau G, E	. Reduced morbidity Branger B, et al. Com	in patients with cyst paring the clinical ev	tic fibrosis detected volution of cystic fibr	by neonatal screenin osis screened neona	g. Lancet 1985;2(8 tally to that of cysti	3468):1319–21. c fibrosis diagnosed
from clinical s	symptoms: a 10-yea	ar retrospective stud	y in a French region	(Brittany). Pediatr P	ulmonol 2003;35:342	2–9.	2004 4 504 7
§§§§ Source: Assi intense neon	Source: Mastella G, Zanolla L, Castellani C, et al. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis: long-term clinical balance. Pancreatology 2001;1:531–7. Source: Assael BM, Castellani C, Ocampo MB, Iansa P, Callegaro A, Valsecchi MG. Epidemiology and survival analysis of cystic fibrosis in an area of intense neonatal screening over 30 years. Am J Epidemiol 2002;156:397–401						
<b>Source:</b> Mer outcome and	elle ME, Schouten survival of CF patie	JP, Gerritsen J, Da ents. Eur Respir J 20	nkert-Roelse JE. Inf 001;18:306–15.	luence of neonatal	screening and centra	alized treatment o	n long-term clinical
***** Not statistica	Ily significant. s EJ, McCormick J,	Mehta G, Mehta A. N	Neonatal screening f	or cystic fibrosis is b	peneficial even in the	context of modern	treatment. J Pediatr
(suppl) (in pre §§§§§ <b>Source:</b> Lai	ess). HJ, Cheng Y, Cho H cystic fibrosis, Am	H, Kosorok MR, Far	rell PM. Association	between initial dise	ease presentation, lu	ng disease outcor	nes, and survival in
<b>Source:</b> Lai Cystic Fibros	HJ, Cheng Y, Farrell is Foundation Regis	PM. The survival a stry data. J Pediatr (	dvantage of cystic fil suppl) (in press).	brosis patients diag	nosed through neona	atal screening: evid	dence from the U.S.

# TABLE 4. (*Continued*) Summary of evidence on health benefits from newborn screening for cystic fibrosis (CF) comparing screened and unscreened groups measured at same ages

As was true of the Wisconsin RCT, observational studies have reported greater height-for-age and, to a lesser extent, weight-for-age among children detected through screening. In Australia, repeated analysis of cross-sectional differences indicated that mean height-for-age Z-score was consistently greater by 0.4 among a cohort of 60 children born after screening was started in 1981 compared with a cohort of 57 children born during the 3 previous years. However, as a result of attrition, the differences were statistically significant only at age 1 year and age 5 years (p<0.05) (81).\*\* At age 15 years, the mean difference in height was 3.4 cm (95% confidence interval [CI] = -0.4-7.2) and the mean difference in heightfor-age Z-scores was 0.4 (95% CI = -0.1-0.9) (82). Data from the Dutch screening pilot study indicated a similar differential in height-for-age, with a difference in predicted height through age 12 among 18 children with CF in the screened group of 0.42 SD (95% CI = -0.20-1.04) compared with 24 unscreened children born during the same period; owing to the limited number of observations, this difference was not statistically significant (85). Compared with children born after screening, heights and weights were slightly but not substantially lower in the screened group, which could reflect better nutritional therapies available to the more recent birth cohorts (85). In France, children born in Brittany (where newborn screening has been in practice since the 1980s) had higher average height and weight Z-scores than those born in neighboring Loire-Atlantique (where screening was not in practice). Differences in height-for-age Z-scores, which were primarily 0.3–0.6 at each age, were statistically significant at ages 1, 3, and 5 years, and differences in weight-for-age were statistically significant at ages 1 and 8 years (p<0.05) (87).

An analysis of UKCFD cross-sectional data for 2002 determined an overall difference in median height-for-age Z-score of 0.32 among U.K. children with CF detected through newborn screening compared with those detected on the basis of clinical symptoms (p<0.005) (91). By 3-year age groups, differences in height Z-scores were 0.39 at ages 1–3 years and 0.32 at ages 4–6 years (p<0.05), whereas a Z-score difference of 0.27 among those aged 7–9 years was not statistically significant. For the subset of children homozygous for the  $\Delta$ F508 mutation, the difference in height-for-age Z-score was smaller (0.22; 95% CI = -0.01–0.44) and did not reach statistical significance. The difference in median weight-for-age Z-scores was smaller and not statistically significant in either analysis.

In Italy, two analyses determined evidence of nutritional advantage from screening. First, a study conducted among children born in northeastern Italy during 1973–1981, when a pilot screening of meconium albumin was in place, revealed that those detected by screening, all with pancreatic insufficiency, had weight Z-scores better than the non-meconium ileus symptomatic group with pancreatic insufficiency at ages 4–6 years through ages 16–18 years (p<0.05); height Z-scores were significantly different from ages 6-8 years through ages 14-16 years (range: 0.6-1.0; p<0.05) (88). A second analysis compared all children born in Veneto during 1983-1992, when IRT screening was in place, with those born in Sicily, which had an intensive program of promoting early diagnosis on the basis of symptoms. Differences in height Z-scores were statistically significant at each 2-year age group from ages 0-2years through ages 14-16 years (range: 0.4-0.8; p<0.01, except for ages 2-4 years) (88).

Another nutritional benefit of newborn screening is earlier initiation of vitamin supplements. Deficiencies of fat-soluble vitamins (vitamins A, E, and K) are common among children with CF not receiving nutritional supplements (99); for example, half of infants in the Wisconsin RCT had vitamin E deficiency at diagnosis (77,100). Prolonged vitamin E deficiency can in certain cases lead to hemolytic anemia and other adverse outcomes, which can potentially be avoided through early diagnosis and intervention. These deficiencies can be corrected by nutritional therapy, and few children in either group in the Wisconsin trial had vitamin deficiencies when assessed later (77). An analysis of cognitive scores supported the hypothesis of a developmental effect of prolonged vitamin E deficiency among children with CF (100).

#### **Pulmonary Outcomes**

Existing measures that can be used to quantify early lung disease in young children with CF are limited. Lung function, assessed by spirometry, is the most common surrogate measure of obstructive lung disease and is predictive of survival in adolescents and adults with CF (101-103). The most frequently used measure of lung function in CF is forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) as a percentage of a predicted value based on height and age, which is usually measured only among children aged >5 years because of the limited ability of younger children to cooperate reliably with the testing. Other pulmonary outcome measures used among children with CF that might be indicative of the extent of lung disease are chest radiograph scores (e.g., Brasfield, Wisconsin, and Northern), which measure structural damage to the lungs, and Shwachman clinical scores of overall disease severity. Both types of measures involve subjective assessments. The Wisconsin study data indicate that chest radiograph scores might

<sup>\*\*</sup> The Australian cross-sectional analysis identified significant differences in height-for-age (p<0.05) but not in weight-for-age; a longitudinal analysis of a subset of observations identified significant differences in weight-forage (p<0.05) but not in height-for-age (81).

be a sensitive measure in young children, with half of children demonstrating signs of potentially irreversible lung damage by age 2 years (24). Although high-resolution chest tomography is an even more sensitive measure of early CF lung disease, this has not been used as an outcome measure in newborn screening evaluation studies.

**Lung function.** Using spirometric measures, the Wisconsin RCT identified no statistically significant difference in lung function between patients in the screened and standard diagnosis groups through age 16 years (29). At age 7 years, 88% in the screened group and 75% in the control group were in the normal range (>89% predicted FEV<sub>1</sub>), and relatively limited deterioration with age was noted in either group. The U.K. RCT did not follow children long enough to collect spirometric measures of lung function.

With one exception, no observational studies have identified statistically significant differences in lung function associated with newborn screening. An Australian study identified significantly better lung function among patients in the screened group, including assessments performed at ages 5 (mean difference in predicted FEV<sub>1</sub> score: 9.0%; p<0.01), 10 (mean difference in predicted FEV<sub>1</sub> score: 9.4%; p<0.05) (81), and 15 (mean difference in predicted FEV<sub>1</sub> score: 12.3%; p<0.01) years (82). The differential in lung function was greatest at age 15 years, a mean difference in predicted FEV<sub>1</sub> scores of 12.3% (95% CI = 2.9–21.7). In the Dutch study, the differential in FEV<sub>1</sub> between the screened group and those who received a diagnosis conventionally during the same period (1973–1979) was similar in magnitude, 8.6 (95% CI = -6.0– 23.2) but was not statistically significant. Virtually no difference was observed in lung function between the screened group and those who received a diagnosis conventionally in the 6 years after the newborn screening pilot project ended (85). Similarly, in both the French study and the UKCFD analysis, no differences in lung function were identified between S and non-S cohorts (87,91). Analyses of CFNPR data likewise have found no clear evidence of a benefit of newborn screening or early asymptomatic detection in terms of lung function (26,93).<sup>††</sup>

**Chest radiograph and clinical scores.** Investigators for the Wisconsin RCT longitudinally analyzed chest radiograph scores by using two raters for each chest film and two different scoring methods to calculate reliable measures of progression of lung disease (24,29). An analysis indicated that differences in chest radiograph scores were, if anything, to the

disadvantage of the screened group, except at time of diagnosis. Chest radiograph scores measured at the same ages were similar between the two groups before age 10 years but were substantially worse in patients in the screened group at age  $\geq$ 12 years (P<0.05) (29). The greater rate of decline in chest radiograph scores among screened patients occurred only among those positive for *P. aeruginosa*. This probably was attributable to a significantly earlier colonization with *P. aeruginosa* infection (52 versus 289 weeks) in the screened group followed at the clinic that in the early years of the study integrated young and old patients irrespective of their pulmonary status (29). The U.K. RCT did not find differences in clinical or radiological scores between groups at ages 1–4 years (78).

Observational data on lung disease based on subjective radiographic or clinical assessments appear more supportive of an apparent pulmonary benefit of newborn screening for CF, but subjective, unblinded assessments could be influenced by knowledge of the screening status of the child. Three studies have reported better radiographic outcomes for screened children (Table 4). The Australian study reported significantly better Shwachman chest radiograph scores at age 15 years among patients in the screened group (2.3; 95% CI = 0.3-4.2), although not at ages 5 or 10 years; the difference in Shwachman clinical scores was statistically significant at ages 5 (3.8; p<0.01), 10 (5.3; p<0.05), and 12 (7.0; p<0.05) years (81,82). In France, both Brasfield chest radiograph scores and Shwachman clinical scores were significantly better among screened children (p<0.05) at each age; Brasfield scores among screened children declined 8% as children aged 1-9 years, compared with a 20% decline among unscreened children (87). Lastly, an analysis of UKCFD data has reported significantly better Northern chest radiograph scores (1.0; 95% CI = 0.0-0.99) and Shwachman clinical scores (3.0, 95% CI = 1.0-4.0) in neonatally screened patients ages 1-9 years (p<0.05) (91). Significant differences of comparable magnitude were apparent when the analysis was restricted to  $\Delta$ F508 homozygotes to control for potential confounding by genotypic differences.

**Respiratory microbiology.** In principle, newborn screening can allow for interventions to delay the onset of chronic *P. aeruginosa* colonization. A study from Denmark has reported that frequent culturing of specimens from persons with CF and aggressive treatment of first infections with *P. aeruginosa* avoids or delays the onset of chronic colonization (*31*). An analysis of UKCFD data has reported lower rates of both transient and chronic *P. aeruginosa* infection among young children detected by newborn screening (*91*). Among children aged 1–3 years, only half as many children in the screened group had at least one positive *P. aeruginosa* culture, both over-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>††</sup> One study reported a possible association of early asymptomatic detection and lung function among a subset of children born during 1987–1990, but ascertainment bias was a problem, because only children who received a diagnosis by the end of 1990 were included (26).

all and among  $\Delta$ F508 homozygotes (p<0.01); among  $\Delta$ F508 homozygotes, a significantly lower proportion of children had three or more positive cultures (p<0.05) (91). In the United Kingdom, at least one CF center that participates in newborn screening also provides aggressive interventions against *P. aeruginosa* infections (43); the statistical finding could possibly reflect an association of newborn screening with variations in CF care. However, among children aged >3 years, which would include children with milder CF diagnosed symptomatically at later ages, no difference in rates of positive cultures was observed (91).

Studies from France and the United States have not reported lower rates of isolation of P. aeruginosa from respiratory cultures taken from screened children with CF, including the Wisconsin RCT (76,87). An analysis of CFNPR data reported that although children with early asymptomatic detection had a lower frequency of colonization with this pathogen overall, after state of birth and other variables were controlled for, these children did not have a lower risk (104). Similarly, an analysis of CFNPR data reported that risk of earlier acquisition of P. aeruginosa among children detected symptomatically did not differ significantly from those detected by screening after controlling for confounding variables (e.g., genotype) (93). An analysis of CFNPR data from 2000-2002 determined that 15% of infants with CF detected by newborn screening had positive cultures for P. aeruginosa, compared with 25%-29% among infants detected on the basis of symptoms, but fewer than half of persons with CF detected by symptoms received a diagnosis as infants (27).

# **Patient-Oriented Outcomes**

#### Survival

Because of low CF mortality rates in childhood, a substantial number of subjects would be required to detect statistically significant differences in survival between screened and unscreened cohorts (5). Also, including deaths unrelated to CF and deaths among children with meconium ileus might mask benefits in terms of preventable CF-related deaths.

Data from the the U.K. RCT supplemented by ascertainment of CF-releated deaths from the UKCFD and other sources indicate that significantly fewer CF-related deaths occurred among the screened cohort (79); four CF-related deaths were recorded before age 5 years among 71 children who were selected randomly not to be screened, and no early CF-related deaths were reported among 78 children selected randomly to be screened (p<0.05). However, two of the four deaths occurred among children who received a diagnosis by age 7 weeks and might not have been preventable by screening. The other two deaths occurred among children who did not receive a diagnosis before death, which highlights prevention of undiagnosed CF mortality as a potential benefit of screening (86). Whether undiagnosed CF mortality is widespread in the United States is not known. Wisconsin study investigators examined death records for children who were born during the study period (62) but determined that no children had died with CF before receiving a diagnosis (Philip M. Farrell, M.D., Ph.D., University of Wisconsin Medical School, Madison, personal communication, November 20, 2003). No survival data from the Wisconsin RCT have been published.

Observational studies have consistently identified lower mortality rates in screened relative to unscreened cohorts. Studies in Australia (82) and the Netherlands (85) used an intentto-treat approach. In the Australian study, CF-related mortality among children aged <15 years was 47% lower among the screened cohort (6.7%) than among those born before screening (12.7%); this difference is not statistically significant, although deaths among the screened cohort occurred an average of 4 years later (p<0.05) (82). In the Dutch study, the relative risk for dying through age 12-24 years for 24 persons in the screened group was 0.43 (95% CI = 0.13-1.38) compared with 29 persons in the unscreened group born during the same period and 0.35 (95% CI = 0.09-1.41) compared with 34 persons with CF born after screening was terminated (85). Even greater relative differences in survival within 6–12 years after birth were apparent, but no separate statistical analysis was reported.

Two observational studies from Europe have reported statistically significant differences in CF mortality comparing regions with and without newborn screening for CF. An analysis of Italian data that compared mortality among 126 children with CF born during 1983-1992 in the northeast in Veneto, which screened for CF, with mortality among 152 children born in the south in Sicily, which did not screen for CF, indicated that two deaths occurred among the former population and 18 among the latter (88). However, two analyses of data from Veneto and neighboring regions in Italy did not find mortality before age 10 years to be substantially lower among children with CF detected by screening (88,90). A similar analysis in France did not follow an intent-to-treat analysis but compared children detected by screening without meconium ileus born in two regions with those who received a diagnosis on the basis of symptoms other than meconium ileus. Three CF-related deaths occurred among 36 children born in Loire-Atlantique during 1989-1998 who were detected on the basis of symptoms other than meconium ileus, and none occurred among 77 children without meconium ileus in neighboring Brittany who were detected through

screening, a statistically significant difference (p<0.05) (87).<sup>§§</sup> Both studies reported similar prevalence of CF and similar CF treatment protocols across regions (87,88).

In the United States, analysis of CFNPR data during 1986–2000 identified a higher risk for death among persons with CF detected by symptoms rather than by screening (p<0.05) (92,93). However, this finding was based on less reliable data on diagnosis type from births occurring during the period before screening was widely available; no significant difference in survival between those detected through screening and those detected by symptoms other than meconium ileus was identified among those who received a diagnosis after 1986 (92,93). The survival curves were almost identical between the screened and symptomatic-detection post-1986 diagnosis groups through age 14 years. The analysis does not provide evidence of improved child survival through screening.

Because newborn screening has been demonstrated to predict nutritional status, an indirect assessment of the effect of screening on survival can be derived from observational studies of the association of nutritional status with survival among children with CF (101). One multivariate analysis of CFNPR data determined that children with weight-for-age less than the fifth percentile between ages 1-5 years were four times more likely to die over the ensuing 8 years than patients with weight-for-age >50th percentile (95% CI = 2.1–7.3) (105). Height-for-age, the outcome most consistently associated with newborn screening in the Wisconsin trial as well as observational studies, has also been linked with mortality risk in CF. One analysis of CFNPR data during 1980-1993 indicated that male children aged 7 years with height-for-age below the fifth percentile had an unadjusted relative risk of dying during childhood and adolescence of 6.3 (95% CI = 2.1-16.7) (96). A multivariate analysis of adolescents and adults with CF in England also determined that height was strongly predictive of subsequent mortality (p<0.0001) (102).

## **Cognitive Function**

The 1997 workshop recommended that data be collected to analyze cognitive outcomes among children with CF classified by age of detection to determine whether advantages in early growth might have lasting neurodevelopmental consequences (5). To this end, cognitive assessments were performed at ages 7–17 years on 89 children in the Wisconsin study for whom consent could be obtained, including 67 children without meconium ileus and with no missing data (100). Cognitive function was assessed with the Test of Cognitive Skills,  $2^{nd}$  Edition, which was used to generate the Cognitive Skills Index (CSI) (mean = 100; SD = 16), a validated measure of general intelligence equivalent to an IQ (*106*). Overall, the screened group had a 5-point higher mean CSI score relative to the control group, which is equivalent to one third SD, controlling for confounding variables. This finding was not statistically significant. No association was identified with any anthropometric indicator, including head circumference, height, and weight (*100*).

A larger and statistically significant CSI differential was observed among the approximately 50% of children in the Wisconsin RCT who had vitamin E deficiency at time of diagnosis (100). The 17 control group subjects who had low alpha-tocopherol levels at time of diagnosis had adjusted CSI scores 12.5 points lower than scores for the 17 screened subjects who also had vitamin E deficiency at diagnosis (p<0.05). Differences in cognitive ability of this magnitude are perceptible to patients; a reduction of 1 SD in cognitive scores is associated with a decrement in reported HRQoL (107).

#### **Health-Related Quality of Life**

Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is a common measure for studies of clinical utility. The 1997 workshop recommended that HRQoL among children and adolescents with CF be assessed to determine whether early intervention resulting from newborn screening leads to better outcomes from the person's own perspective (5). HRQoL can be assessed by using either generic instruments or disease-specific instruments; the majority of studies of HRQoL have used generic instruments (e.g., the Quality of Well-Being [QWB] Scale or Child Health Questionnaire [CHQ]). Studies that used generic HRQoL instruments with persons with CF have reported that HRQoL is negatively associated with recent morbidity (e.g., number of respiratory infections, concurrent medical conditions, and daily medications) but appears to be unrelated to nutritional status or lung function (*108,109*).

In response to the 1997 workshop recommendation, a follow-up study of HRQoL was conducted among a subset of 89 participants in the Wisconsin RCT assessed at ages 7–17 years. Results using the CHQ indicate that HRQoL did not differ between the screened and control groups (107). The best predictor of lower HRQoL in one of the regression models was the number of recent hospitalizations, consistent with previous studies (108,109). Because the generic HRQoL instrument used in this study is reported to have limited sensitivity compared with disease-specific instruments for CF in measuring differences in health states (110), a more sensitive disease-specific instrument might have revealed between-group differences in HRQoL.

<sup>§§</sup> Four deaths not related to CF were recorded among screened children with CF in Brittany, three of which occurred neonatally. Infants with CF who died from such causes would not have received a diagnosis of CF in the absence of screening. In addition, one child with CF in Brittany died from causes associated with Down syndrome (87).

Another limitation of the HRQoL study is that it was conducted long after diagnosis among respondents of different ages. More research on HRQoL among younger children with CF is warranted to assess the potential qualitative benefits of newborn screening. Cross-sectional assessments of HRQoL among children who already have received a diagnosis of CF cannot capture adverse effects on quality of life occurring during the period before diagnosis. For example, enteric-coated pancreatic enzyme therapy has been demonstrated to reduce the frequency of abdominal pain among older children, adolescents, and adults (*111*). By allowing for earlier initiation of enzyme therapy, newborn screening could lead to improvements in HRQoL among the subset of infants with gastrointestinal symptoms during the interval before initiation of therapy prompted by symptomatic diagnosis.

## **Hospitalizations and Burden of Care**

As noted previously, studies among persons with CF have indicated that severe symptoms requiring multiple medications and hospitalizations are associated with statistically significant decrements in HRQoL (107, 108, 110). Because hospitalizations and prescription medications comprise the bulk of medical costs for persons with CF (112), any intervention that leads to reduced hospitalizations and concurrent pharmacologic treatments can substantially reduce costs to the health-care system and improve the well-being of affected children and their families.

Evidence relating newborn screening to the cost and burden of hospitalizations or medications is suggestive of benefit for these patient-oriented outcomes. The U.K. RCT data indicate that children in the screened cohort spent a statistically significantly shorter amount of time in the hospital during the first year of life than those in the unscreened cohort (mean [SD] = 19.2 [42.9] and 27.0 [22.7] days, respectively) (p<0.01).

The Wisconsin RCT has not confirmed a reduction in hospitalizations; 51% of persons in the screened group had a recorded hospitalization at any age, compared with 34% of the control group (69). The hospitalization rate for the unscreened group in Wisconsin was lower than expected and might reflect underascertainment of data on hospitalizations. An earlier analysis reported higher rates of hospitalization within the screened group controlling for CF center, although the differences were not statistically significant (76).

Four observational studies have reported that diagnosis resulting from newborn screening is associated with fewer hospitalizations among young children with CF. In Australia, the average number of hospital days in the first 2 years of life was 27 for the unscreened cohort and 4 for the screened cohort (80). In France, the cumulative frequency of hospitalizations for children with CF is reported to have been significantly lower in a screened cohort than in a neighboring unscreened cohort (49% and 86%, respectively; p<0.001) (87). An analysis of CFNPR data from 2000–2002 on infants aged <12 months who received a diagnosis of CF reported that 22% of infants who received a diagnosis through newborn screening were hospitalized during the year of diagnosis, compared with 64% of infants who received a diagnosis on the basis of clinical symptoms (27). An earlier study from Colorado (113) reported an even larger differential, but that analysis was restricted to hospitalizations occurring before diagnosis, which is less meaningful.

According to one study (114), antibiotic prophylaxis against infections with Staphylococcus aureus reduced hospitalizations among young children with CF detected through newborn screening, but conclusive evidence is lacking. One RCT conducted in East Anglia during 1985-1989 randomly selected 38 infants identified with CF through newborn screening to receive either continuous antibiotic prophylaxis with flucloxacillin or episodic treatment (114). During the second year of life, mean hospitalization admission rates in the prophylaxis group were one fourth as high, and mean duration of hospital stay was one third as high (p<0.01). Two RCTs not restricted to infants detected by screening (78,115) and using different antibiotics did not find a preventive effect of prophylaxis (116). One RCT identified an apparent risk of elevated P. aeruginosa isolation after 4 years of continual prophylaxis (115). Certain U.K. centers that use antistaphyloccocal prophylaxis with aggressive treatment regimens to eradicate P. aeruginosa infections report promising results in terms of improved outcomes (42, 43).

Evidence that early detection by screening might reduce the number of medications administered, especially more invasive medications, is more limited. In the French study, no difference between the two cohorts was observed in the frequency of intravenous antibiotic therapy. However, the screened cohort was approximately half as likely to use inhaled antibiotics, a clinically important (albeit not statistically significant) difference (*87*). An abstract from a CF care center in Southampton, England, reported that those receiving a diagnosis at age <2 months had statistically significantly lower rates of using intravenous antibiotics than those who received a diagnosis at age >2 months (0% and 19%, respectively), regular nebulized antibiotics (57% and 95%, respectively), and regular inhaled corticosteroids (36% and 85%, respectively) (all p<0.05) (*117*).

UKCFD data indicate a statistically significant lower frequency of use of intensive therapy among children whose CF was detected by screening compared with those whose CF was detected by clinical diagnosis (91). Among children aged 1–3 years, those whose CF was detected through screening were only half as likely (22% versus 44%) to receive nebulized antibiotics, mucolytics, or corticosteroids. Among children aged 4–6 years, the comparable percentages were 41% and 60%, respectively; p<0.05). By ages 7–9 years, the majority of children in both groups (55% and 67%, respectively) were receiving such therapies. The lower use of therapies in the screened group might indicate that a main benefit of screening is the ability to achieve the same health outcomes with less burden of treatment on children and families and less cost to the health-care system (*91,117*).

# **Benefits to Families**

Children with CF who receive a diagnosis on the basis of clinical symptoms rather than screening usually experience a series of diagnostic tests and treatments before a conclusive diagnosis of CF is made (29). A 1991 Colorado study determined that 86% of children with CF who were not detected through screening received an incorrect or incomplete diagnosis before a correct diagnosis of CF, and all had undergone hospitalization (113). On average, 15 months were reported to have elapsed between the onset of symptoms and a definitive diagnosis of CF. The typical delay from symptoms to diagnosis is somewhat shorter, with the median age of diagnosis for those receiving a diagnosis before age 20 years on the basis of symptoms reported to be 14.5 months (27).

The adverse effects of delayed diagnosis on families of children with CF have been extensively studied (118). Parents of children detected with CF on the basis of clinical symptoms are more likely to report experiencing personal distress (119); anxiety (118); and negative feelings toward, and distrust of, medical professionals (120, 121). In the United States, a synthesis of family experiences with delayed diagnosis includes anxiety, stress, frustration, self-doubt, and emotional trauma (29). The possibility of sparing parents the experience of emotional pain as a result of delayed diagnosis might be an important benefit of newborn screening. However, receiving a diagnosis of CF usually causes anxiety, regardless of mode or age of diagnosis, and parents of children with CF continue to experience high levels of stress no matter how the diagnosis was originally established (113, 122).

Another potential benefit to parents from a diagnosis of CF by newborn screening is the ability to make informed decisions related to further childbearing, because the diagnosis might occur 1 year earlier on average compared with conventional diagnosis (0.5 and 14.5 months, respectively) (27). Six studies in Europe and Australia indicated that the majority of couples with positive CF newborn screening results use that information in their childbearing decisions (123). Limited evidence from two U.S. studies suggests less reproductive effect of newborn screening (113,124), which might reflect differences in genetic counseling or cultural attitudes (125).

# **Evidence for Risks of Harm**

Potential harms from newborn screening can occur both to children with CF and their families and to families of children who have a false-positive newborn screen. On the basis of previous experience with genetic screening programs (1,126,127), certain psychosocial risks were anticipated, notably parental anxiety and disturbance of the parent-child bond. These risks are related to the communication process and the experience of families being informed about screening results (14). Appropriate resources for diagnostic evaluations, treatment for infants with CF, and counseling for families might help mitigate these risks (128-130). Ongoing qualityassurance programs built into the screening system are needed to provide accurate data on risks.

# Risks to Infants Affected with CF and Their Families

#### **Altered Parent-Child Relationships**

Before the introduction of newborn screening for CF, the possibility that screening could have an adverse effect on the bonding process between new parents and their infants had been hypothesized (127). Studies of families of children with CF have investigated the hypothesis, and none has determined this to be a problem. For example, a study of 58 families of Australian children with CF, half of whom were detected through newborn screening, did not find evidence of altered maternal behavior in response to a diagnosis of CF through newborn screening (119). A study from Wales in 1999 of nine mothers of children with CF detected through newborn screening and 82 mothers from the general population identified no evidence of greater rejection or overprotection in the CF group (131). Although the number of families studied is limited, these reports suggest that early identification of CF through newborn screening does not adversely alter parentchild relationships.

# Person-to-Person Transmission of Infectious Agents

The Wisconsin RCT documented earlier acquisition of *P. aeruginosa* among infants detected through screening who were examined at a CF center housed in a 90-year-old building with a 110-square-foot waiting room in which screened in-

fants were not isolated from older children with CF, many of whom had lung infections (28, 30).<sup>¶</sup>

Children in the screened group who were examined at the first center acquired *P. aeruginosa* at a median age of 1.0 years, compared with a median of 5.6 years for those examined at the other center (76). Evidence from Australia documenting acquisition of *P. aeruginosa* from other persons with CF cared for at the same center supports the hypothesis that this is a concern in the treatment of infants and young children with CF (132). Centers caring for children with CF should address this problem, whether CF is detected clinically or through newborn screening.

The Wisconsin evidence indicates that person-to-person transmission of *P. aeruginosa* is not an inherent risk of newborn screening and can be avoided. It does not appear to be common among children with CF detected by newborn screening in the United States (27). A study of 180 children in Colorado detected by newborn screening identified a median age of acquisition of *P. aeruginosa* of 8.1 years (133). In 2003, CFF issued new recommendations to minimize the risk of person-to-person transmission of infectious agents, including segregating asymptomatic patients from those with established disease (134). Studies to evaluate the efficacy and use of infection-control policies should be conducted.

# Risks to Infants with False-Positive CF Screens and Their Families

The anticipation of psychosocial risks to parents whose infants have a false-positive CF screening result was based on previous experiences with newborn screening for PKU (135) and with other benign conditions (e.g., hyperbilirubinemia and heart murmurs) that resulted in anxiety and overprotectiveness among certain families (136). With a simple IRT/DNA approach, all children with positive screens either have CF or are CF carriers (62), although this is not the case in programs that also refer children with highly elevated IRT and no detected mutations.

#### **Psychological Distress from Screening**

Parents of children who screen positive for CF, the majority of whom do not have CF, often report feeling distress and anxiety. One study from Wisconsin of 104 parents whose infants had elevated IRT measures indicated that parents surveyed while waiting for results of sweat tests reported feelings of concern (96%), depression (77%), and shock (76%) (120). A minority of families of children with false-positive screen results reported lingering anxiety even after being informed that their child did not have CF. A study in Wisconsin of 106 parents whose infant had positive screens under the IRT screening algorithm and 63 parents whose infants screened positive under the IRT/DNA (single-mutation) algorithm (none of whom had CF) determined that, when interviewed 1 year after screening, 7% and 10%, respectively, reported that they worried about the results once a week or more (*124*).

## **Misunderstanding of Carrier Status**

The information that a child with a positive screen is a carrier, that at least one of the parents is a carrier, and that the parents are at increased risk of having a child with CF, is complex to convey. A Wisconsin study of 63 families with positive IRT/DNA test results reported that 6% of families thought that being a carrier could cause illness (124). Education and genetic counseling might improve understanding, but a second study from Wisconsin of 138 families conducted after CF screening had become part of the state newborn screening program indicated that only two thirds of parents received genetic counseling (i.e., counseling from a physician, nurse, or genetic counselor) (137). In this cohort, 88% understood that their child was a carrier, but not all had accurate understanding of the implications; 11% either believed that their child would have CF subsequently or did not know whether that could happen (137). Approximately half of parents reported feeling confused, and only one fourth of families reported feeling no anxiety about their child's carrier status. Less than half of the parents, regardless of whether they reported receiving genetic counseling, understood that they were at increased risk of having a child with CF. These findings underscore the need for comprehensive communication plans, research about effective risk-communication strategies, and assessments of parental understanding of routine screening programs (128).

# Other Implications to Families of Carrier Identification

The provision of information about CF carrier status has raised concerns about potential stigmatization and discrimination (138), although subsequent studies have not yielded evidence of such adverse effects. In addition, certain persons have reported feeling uncomfortable with the implications of contacting other family members about CF carrier status (131). States screening newborns for SCD\*\*\* have long experience in reporting sickle cell trait, which poses similar challenges in communicating complex genetic information to families (139).

<sup>99</sup> Person-to-person transmission of *P. aeruginosa* in the Wisconsin study was not documented through microbiologic analysis.

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> As of August 2004, all but two states routinely screened newborns for hemoglobinopathies (9).

Despite these concerns, studies indicate that the majority of parents of carriers detected by screening consider carrier identification to be a useful by-product of newborn screening for CF. In Wisconsin, 14% of parents of carriers in one sample reported that they did not think newborn screening for CF should be conducted, whereas two thirds of families strongly agreed that they were better informed by knowing their infant's carrier status and would not have preferred that it had remained unknown (137). In Massachusetts, where newborn screening for CF is optional, preliminary analysis of data on linked births indicated that 82 of 83 families who had an infant with a positive screen agreed to newborn screening for CF for their subsequent infants (140). Also, a study of 10 carrier families in Wales reported that all were in favor of newborn screening for CF (131). In Massachusetts, one genetic counseling program reported that 75% of families of infants identified as carriers requested carrier testing for both parents; among the five families in which both parents were identified as CF carriers, an older sibling in one family was subsequently identified as having CF (141).

# **Risks to Health-Care System**

Whenever a condition is added to a newborn screening panel, potential risks can occur as a result of adding responsibilities to the health-care system (129). First, infants with falsenegative results might experience a delay in diagnosis. Second, overburdening the system with children who are false-positives could distract primary-care providers and specialists and complicate addressing the diagnostic and psychosocial needs of families. These risks can be minimized by optimizing the screening protocol to minimize falsenegative and false-positive results and by ensuring that adequate resources are available. These two risks emphasize the importance of collaboration between newborn screening programs and health-care providers in planning and implementing a screening program. Finally, screening always has an opportunity cost, which consists of the diversion of healthcare system resources away from other potential uses.

## Failure To Diagnose CF

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) urges healthcare providers to be vigilant to detect disorders included in newborn screening programs (60,142). This is of particular importance for CF, because newborn screening for CF results in more false-negatives than are documented for other established newborn screening tests (range of sensitivity in routine programs: 93%–98%) (Table 2). Providers in states that screen for CF need to remain vigilant to detect CF among children with clinical symptoms. In particular, providers should consider the possibility of CF among children with meconium ileus, children of non-European ancestry who might carry mutations not included in mutation panels used by screening programs, and children who were born in a state without screening.

A potential drop in requisitions by primary-care providers for sweat tests after newborn screening is implemented could result from physicians not ordering sweat testing on suspicion of CF even when warranted, thereby risking delayed diagnosis, or a reduction in unnecessary ordering of sweat tests with a low degree of suspicion of CF. In Wisconsin, the number of sweat tests requisitioned to test for CF is reported to have decreased 50% statewide after screening was implemented (*68*). A reduction of at least one third in the aggregate number of sweat tests ordered after introduction of newborn screening for CF has been reported from South Australia (Enzo Ranieri, M.D., Women's and Children's Hospital, Adelaide, South Australia, personal communication, May 4, 2004).

Another approach to assessing whether changes in provider behavior might contribute to delayed diagnosis among those not detected by screening is to compare the median age at diagnosis among children identified through newborn screening with those identified through clinical diagnosis in a state with universal screening. Unpublished data indicate that all children with CF who have received a clinical diagnosis since the advent of routine screening in Wisconsin (in 1994) and in Massachusetts (in 1999) received a diagnosis by age 12 months (median age at diagnosis: <4 months) (Gary Hoffman, Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, Madison; Anne Marie Comeau, Ph.D., New England Newborn Screening Program, Jamaica Plain, Massachusetts, personal communications, April 6, 2004). In Colorado, the median age of diagnosis for 14 children with CF who screened negative is <8 months (Marci Sontag, Ph.D., The Children's Hospital, Denver, Colorado, personal communication, April 8, 2004), which is below the national average of 14.5 months for diagnoses based on clinical symptoms (27). Thus, no evidence exists that providers have changed behavior in states with newborn screening for CF.

## **Effect of False-Positives**

The data indicate that the balance between numbers of screen-positives and cases of diagnosed CF is favorable compared with established newborn screening tests as long as an IRT/DNA screening algorithm is used (67). An IRT-repeat IRT protocol can yield similarly low numbers of false-positives if second specimens are routinely collected from all infants (18). Screening programs that use an IRT-repeat IRT protocol with a screen-positive report based on a single specimen can expect to generate higher numbers of screen-positives relative to true-positive cases. Every child who screens

positive for CF should be referred to a specialty center for a diagnostic analysis. Health-care providers in Massachusetts have treated screen-positive results with due diligence, with  $\geq$ 95% of infants with positive screens completing sweat testing (67).

A concern relating to false-positives is that an increase in the number of referrals for sweat tests or genetic counseling could overwhelm CF care centers, thereby adversely affecting care received by persons with CF. Although CF care centers will initially need to be prepared to handle a higher volume of sweat tests, the increase might be modest and transient, depending on the screening algorithm used in a state. One CF care center in Massachusetts reported a 10% increase in numbers of sweat tests requisitioned after the introduction of screening (Richard B. Parad, M.D., The Children's Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts, personal communication, April 15, 2004). The availability of resources for providing genetic counseling for families of carriers as well as sweat testing should be addressed before implementation of newborn screening (140).

## **Minimizing Risks**

All newborn screening tests (including tests for CF) pose potential risks of harm that need to be minimized through careful attention to concerns of communicating screening results and genetic risks and coordination of follow-up among diagnostic centers, primary-care physicians, genetic counselors, specialists, and families (4,129,143). Screening programs might minimize psychosocial risks by acting to minimize time delays between informing parents of positive results and providing sweat tests; improve the type and nature of information given to parents about the meaning of an initial positive screening result, diagnosis of CF, or identification as a carrier; and provide psychological support for the families of infants with CF and for CF carriers who have ongoing concerns (118).

If providers were to educate parents in a relaxed manner before labor and delivery, a positive screening result might be met with greater willingness to obtain follow-up and with less worry about the meaning of a positive test (144, 145). Newborn screening information provided to parents at the time the heel stick is taken, soon after birth in the United States, might be poorly assimilated and not contribute to effective understanding, and parents clearly prefer to receive this information before testing (142, 146). Better parental education about newborn screening for all disorders is vitally important and ideally should occur in the prenatal setting (144-148). Information should be provided in multiple formats (e.g., easyto-read pamphlets and videos) (149).

Obtaining parental permission might facilitate parental engagement and education. Parental consent for newborn screening for PKU and other disorders has been debated since 1978 (150). Forty-eight states mandate newborn screening because treatment begun soon after birth has been demonstrated to prevent irreversible, devastating outcomes (e.g., death or severe intellectual disability for certain disorders). When the balance between benefits and risks for newborn screening tests is not as dramatic as it is for PKU, the argument for parental consent becomes more compelling (14,151).

Consent includes a spectrum of approaches, ranging from providing information and obtaining verbal agreement to written documentation of consent with a signature (152). A report from an ad hoc Newborn Screening Task Force convened in 1999 recommended that parents should be informed and be able to refuse testing, although documentation of consent should not be necessary (142). AAP has recommended that states evaluate an informed consent process for newborn screening tests to foster parental education and promote informed responses to test results (144). Consent does not preclude providers from making strong recommendations in favor of testing, and if the risk is limited and clinical recommendations have been made to offer a test, the approach to consent can be simple (153). In Massachusetts, where newborn screening for CF requires oral consent from a parent (i.e., a check box on the newborn screening card indicates refusal), >98% of parents consent to CF newborn screening (17).

# Weighing Risks and Benefits

# **Evidence of Benefits**

#### **Health Outcomes**

The 2003 workshop reviewed the U.S. and international peer-reviewed medical literature to assess the efficacy of newborn screening for CF in light of new data appearing since the 1997 workshop. The results support the efficacy of newborn screening in reducing morbidity from CF (Table 4). In particular, the benefits of improved growth are now more clearly established than in 1997, and the implications of growth retardation for other clinical outcomes in CF are better understood. In addition, benefits in terms of improved patient-oriented outcomes, including cognitive outcomes, hospitalizations, and survival, have been reported in recently published studies. Unlike certain conditions for which universal newborn screening is mandated (e.g., PKU, congenital hypothyroidism, and galactosemia), CF is not associated with severe intellectual disability. For this reason, improvement in cognitive scores, although meaningful, is not equivalent to

prevention of mental retardation. Results of studies do not demonstrate clear benefits on other important measures, including HRQoL and pulmonary outcomes. No information is available on cost-effectiveness, although partial cost analyses have been published. Finally, newer research and the experience of additional cohorts with screening have tended to alleviate concerns about risks of psychosocial harm among children with CF but have continued to find evidence of anxiety or misunderstanding among parents whose children have false-positives results.

Growth and nutrition. As was true in 1997, the most clearly defined benefit from newborn screening is improved growth of affected children. In particular, the Wisconsin RCT provides strong evidence of long-term improvements in heightfor-age and reductions in chronic malnutrition. A second analysis published in 2001 strengthened this finding by demonstrating that the height advantage in the screened group persisted through age  $\geq 10$  years and by including growth measurements for a subset of the control group that had previously been excluded (77). In the SORT framework, a finding from a single high-quality RCT that an intervention substantially improves a patient-oriented outcome is considered to provide Level-1 evidence (Box 2). As a disease-oriented outcome, evidence from an RCT is considered Level-3 evidence for recommendation of newborn screening for CF. However, if height-for-age below the normal range were considered a patient-oriented outcome, this would be considered Level-1 evidence. Studies in other countries also support improvements in height-for-age from screening for CF. In addition, anthropometric measures of nutritional status have been linked to reduced mortality among children and adults with CF independent of newborn screening, which suggests that early initiation of nutritional therapies after newborn screening might lead to improved long-term survival (101).

**Cognitive development.** Newborn screening has also been demonstrated to influence neurodevelopment positively in a subset of children with CF. Results from the Wisconsin RCT indicate moderate, clinically significant improvements in general cognitive ability assessed in school-age children and adolescents among those with vitamin E deficiency at time of diagnosis (*100*). Assuming that a 12.5-point difference in cognitive ability is considered a patient-oriented outcome, this finding qualifies as Level-1 evidence in the SORT framework. The observed overall difference of 5 points in mean cognitive test scores between screened and control groups, which was not statistically significant, is comparable in magnitude to that associated with moderately elevated blood lead levels (*154*).

Other CF follow-up studies should conduct cognitive assessments as well.

**Hospitalization.** Studies indicate a substantial benefit of newborn screening in reducing the days of hospitalization for children with CF, including one RCT from the United Kingdom (78) and observational studies from Australia (80), France (87), the United Kingdom (91), and the United States (27). A preliminary analysis of retrospectively collected data from the Wisconsin RCT has not demonstrated this to be the case, which might be attributable to how the data were collected or to differences in treatment protocols. In addition to the potential for newborn screening for CF to reduce costs to health-care systems from hospitalizations, findings from Wisconsin and Australia indicate health-care savings from reduced ordering of sweat tests ordered by primary care providers.

Survival. A number of observational studies and one RCT have reported Level-2 evidence of proportional reductions of  $\geq$ 50% in mortality rates among children with CF diagnosed by newborn screening. Child mortality as a result of CF is low in absolute terms (44), and the majority of the findings from individual studies lack statistical significance. No studies have reported equal or worse survival among screened children, although the lack of negative findings might reflect publication bias. A meta-analysis of survival data might provide more robust estimates of the effect on survival of newborn screening for CF. In addition, the frequency of children with CF dying without having received a diagnosis can be studied through death records linked with stored residual blood spot specimens from programs not screening for CF.

Pulmonary status. The effect of newborn screening on pulmonary status among persons with CF as measured by chest radiographs and lung function remains uncertain. Three observational studies, including two conducted in recent years, have demonstrated evidence of less severe lung damage among children identified by newborn screening, although no difference in lung function was demonstrated in two of the three studies (Table 4). One cohort study from Australia reported evidence of both better lung function and less lung damage among children with CF born after screening was implemented. Although the randomized Wisconsin trial identified no benefit for any pulmonary measure through age 16 years and a possible disadvantage in terms of chest radiographs, the study was weakened by probable person-to-person transmission of *P. aeruginosa* in one clinic that did not segregate patients, thus possibly contaminating the results for this cohort. In addition, the control group by chance had relatively more subjects with pancreatic insufficiency and milder symptoms. Even if the Wisconsin RCT had provided evidence of pulmonary benefit, this would be classified as Level-3 evidence in the SORT framework, because it is a disease-oriented outcome.

**HRQoL.** Evidence of benefit is lacking for improved HRQoL as a patient-oriented outcome measure for the efficacy of newborn screening for CF. The Wisconsin study did not identify significant differences in HRQoL between the screened and control groups at age 7–14 years. The limited literature on HRQoL relevant to CF suggests that differences in HRQoL are related directly not to nutritional status or lung function but primarily to the frequency of pulmonary exacerbations and treatment interventions, including hospitalization.

Distribution of benefits. For certain children detected through screening, the benefits are more substantial than for others. For example, greater growth is primarily of benefit to those who would have been below the normal range in the absence of screening. Similarly, the cognitive benefits from screening are concentrated among those children at risk for micronutrient deficiency. CF newborn screening is likely to be most helpful for that subgroup of affected children who do not receive a prompt diagnosis despite severe disease manifestations. Benefits to this subset of children through screening might not be reflected adequately in comparisons of mean outcomes. Similarly, although child mortality as a result of CF is low, early detection might save an infant from a rare life-threatening event (e.g., hyponatremic dehydration). However, persons with pancreatic sufficiency, who comprise  $\leq 10\%$ of persons with CF, might not benefit from newborn screening (4). Similarly, the 20% of persons with meconium ileus do not appear to benefit from newborn screening because they typically receive a diagnosis at birth.

#### **Benefits to Families**

In addition to health benefits for children, which are the primary justification for newborn screening for CF, newborn screening offers potential benefits to families. One such benefit is the elimination of the diagnostic odyssey. Further, certain families value the genetic risk information received from newborn screening for CF. Another benefit of carrier testing, at least in the early years of newborn screening implementation, is the identification of older siblings who are symptomatic but have not received a diagnosis of CF after a positive screen for CF in a newborn infant (*140*). Overall, studies report that the majority of families of children who either screen positive or receive a diagnosis of CF consider newborn screening for CF to be worthwhile.

# **Risks of Harms and Costs**

The potential benefits of newborn screening programs should be weighed against the potential harms and costs. Harm

from person-to-person transmission, which is not inherent to earlier detection, can be avoided through involvement of newborn screening programs with CF care centers and adoption of infection control practices. The potential negative outcomes of screening include effects from false-positive results and the psychological and social effects of carrier identification for parents and children. Studies indicate that certain parents experience anxiety from false-positive results and confusion over the implications of CF carrier status.

Screening programs should explore options for minimizing parental anxiety and misunderstanding. Concerns that should be addressed include better communication of screening results and provision of more comprehensive information about newborn screening. AAP has called for facilitating informed parental choices regarding newborn screening (142,144). Documentation of consent might not be necessary. The focus should be on providing thorough, easily understood information to parents about screening for CF and other conditions, especially before delivery, to reduce misunderstanding and provide parents with an opportunity to make informed choices, consistent with state laws.

A full cost-effectiveness analysis of the costs and benefits of newborn screening has not been conducted. Partial cost analyses conducted in Wisconsin indicated that the majority of CF screening costs in that state were offset by savings from the reduction in the ordering of sweat tests (68,69). Other potential economic benefits are reductions in hospitalizations and medications for screened children that have been reported, although not in the Wisconsin study. Indeed, one of the major benefits of newborn screening for CF might be to reduce the level of treatments and costs needed to maintain comparable health status between screened and unscreened children (91,117). In the absence of formal economic evaluations, states should assess the economic benefits of newborn screening for CF compared with other alternative actions that might be foregone if resources were allocated to CF screening (e.g., adding another disorder to newborn screening panels).

Both risk and costs might be influenced by decisions about testing methodology (e.g., IRT cutoffs and the numbers of mutations included). As with all screening programs, a tradeoff exists between sensitivity and specificity. Benefits can be maximized by identifying more children with CF (higher sensitivity), and risks can be reduced by decreasing the number of carriers detected (higher specificity). Detecting more children with CF by increasing the number of mutations tested for by using the IRT/DNA approach necessarily increases the number of carriers detected. The Wisconsin program has reported that switching from a single mutation to a 25-mutation panel raised screening costs by one third to one half but reduced the frequency of false-negatives by more than half (Table 2) (69).

The potential for harms underscores the need for continual monitoring and evaluation of screening outcomes to ensure that children with CF benefit from screening and interventions. An example is an evaluation by the Colorado newborn screening program relative to *P. aeruginosa* acquisition (*133*). Moreover, data collection and analysis are needed to evaluate and optimize the performance of screening and diagnostic algorithms (*17*).

# **Balance of Benefits and Risks**

On the basis of the SORT taxonomy (Box 2) as applied in this report, the evidence of health benefits merits a B-level recommendation for newborn screening for CF. This is based on evidence for several patient-oriented outcomes. This recommendation includes consistent Level-2 evidence for improved child survival, although not all studies find statistically significant differences. Although Level-2 evidence of benefit in terms of reduced hospitalizations has also been reported from multiple studies, the Wisconsin RCT provided inconsistent findings. One high-quality RCT has yielded positive findings for two outcomes, growth and cognitive ability. Level-1 evidence for cognitive outcome supports a B-level recommendation. If impaired growth were classified as a patient-oriented outcome, Level-1 evidence from the Wisconsin RCT and Level-2 evidence from several observational studies would also provide support for a B-level recommendation.

On the basis of a preponderance of evidence, the health benefits to children with CF outweigh the risk of harm and justify screening for CF. The complex policy decision as to whether to adopt screening also requires consideration of costs, resources, and priorities (14). As a result, CDC believes that including screening for CF in state newborn screening programs is justified. The evidence of clinical benefits from newborn screening for CF is based on an extensive body of research, including two RCTs and multiple prospective cohort studies. Indeed, the CF research experience could be a model for developing an evidence base for use in assessing the risks and benefits of other newborn screening tests (144).

The net balance of benefits and risks is contingent on how newborn screening for CF is implemented (129). Consequently, newborn screening programs for CF, if initiated, should be of high quality and carefully monitored to ensure consistent quality and effectiveness. CF screening programs are complex and should be developed in a deliberate fashion with attention to the experience of existing programs. Benefits are likely to be maximized if children have access to stateof-the-art therapy and follow-up with experienced professionals. Adoption of newborn screening for CF should be accompanied by an implementation planning process involving specialized CF care centers and specialists in risk communication, including genetic counselors. An implementation plan should ensure that adequate personnel and other resources required for the accurate diagnosis and clinical management of young children with CF and the psychosocial and genetic counseling needs of families with screen-positive infants are made available to ensure effective and equitable access to services.

# **Recommendations**

The magnitude of the health benefits from screening for CF is sufficient that states should consider including routine newborn screening for CF in conjunction with systems to ensure access to high-quality care.

- In reaching a decision as to whether to add newborn screening for CF, states should consider available state resources and priorities as well as available national guidelines regarding CF screening, diagnosis, and treatment.
- States that implement newborn screening for CF should collect follow-up data in collaboration with CF care centers and analyze this information to monitor and improve the quality of CF newborn screening. In particular, states should collect, share, and analyze data by using standard protocols to evaluate and optimize laboratory algorithms used to screen for CF and refer for diagnosis. States seeking guidance on optimal laboratory protocols might wish to consult with states having more experience in conducting CF screening of newborns.
- Newborn screening for CF should be accompanied by rigorous infection control practices to minimize the risk to children with CF detected at an early age of acquiring infectious organisms associated with lung disease from older patients. Further research is needed to evaluate and optimize these practices.
- Newborn screening systems should ensure parental and provider education and communication of screening results to primary-care providers in a manner that will ensure prompt referral to diagnostic centers. For CF, these should be centers skilled in providing both sweat tests to young, presymptomatic children with CF and accurate and effective counseling to families, including those with infants identified as carriers. States are recommended to work with each other and with professional organizations and federal agencies to develop approaches to provide newborn screening information to parents during the prenatal and perinatal periods on all conditions, including CF, to facilitate informed choices and appropriate responses to positive screen results.

#### Acknowledgments

The preparers acknowledge the contributions made by Denise Green, M.P.H., of CDC's National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities (NCBDDD) in coordinating the logistical arrangements for both the 2003 workshop and the preparation of this report. CDC staff who reviewed drafts of this report include Pamela Costa, M.S., Owen Devine, Ph.D., Richard Olney, M.D., NCBDDD, and Muin J. Khoury, M.D., Mary Lou Lindegren, M.D., and Linda Bradley, Ph.D., Office of Genomics and Disease Prevention. Other workshop participants who offered comments were Michael Glass, M.S., Newborn Screening, Washington State Department of Health; Michael J. Rock, M.D., Cystic Fibrosis Center, University of Wisconsin, Madison; Lainie Friedman Ross, M.D., University of Chicago, Illinois; Marci Sontag, Ph.D., The Children's Hospital, Denver, Colorado. Gurvaneet Randhawa, M.D., and Elizabeth Edgerton, M.D., from the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, Maryland, also provided helpful comments and suggestions. We also thank the members of our external review group for their helpful input: Preston W. Campbell III, M.D., Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, Bethesda, Maryland; Philip M. Farrell, M.D., University of Wisconsin Medical School, Madison; Kenneth S. Fink, M.D., Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, Maryland; Michele A. Lloyd Puryear, M.D., Health Resources and Services Administration, Rockville, Maryland; Richard B. Parad, M.D., New England Newborn Screening Program, University of Massachusetts Medical School, and Divisions of Newborn Medicine and Pulmonary Medicine, The Children's Hospital, Boston.

#### References

- 1. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis: position paper. Pediatrics 1983;72:741–5.
- Holtzman NA. Routine screening of newborns for cystic fibrosis: not yet. Pediatrics 1984;73:98–9.
- Crossley JR, Elliott RB, Smith PA. Dried-blood spot screening for cystic fibrosis in the newborn. Lancet 1979;1(8114):472–4.
- Wagener JS, Sontag MK, Accurso FJ. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pediatr 2003;15:309–15.
- CDC. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: a paradigm for public health genetics policy development: proceedings of a 1997 workshop. MMWR 1997;46(No. RR-16):1–24.
- 6. CDC. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis 2003. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, CDC, National Center on Birth Defects and Developmental Disabilities. Available at http://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/cf/meeting.htm.
- Therrell BL Jr. U.S. newborn screening policy dilemmas for the twenty-first century. Mol Genet Metab 2001;74:64–74.
- Stoddard JJ, Farrell PM. State-to-state variations in newborn screening policies. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 1997;151:561–4.
- National Newborn Screening and Genetics Resource Center. U.S. national screening status report. San Antonio, TX: National Newborn Screening and Genetics Resource Center, 2004. Available at http://genes-r-us.uthscsa.edu/nbsdisorders.pdf.

- Atkinson K, Zuckerman B, Sharfstein JM, Levin D, Blatt RJ, Koh HK. A public health response to emerging technology: expansion of the Massachusetts newborn screening program. Public Health Rep 2001;116:122–31.
- Farrell PM, Aronson RA, Hoffman G, Laessig RH. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Wisconsin: first application of populationbased molecular genetics testing. Wis Med J 1994;93:415–21.
- 12. Therrell BL, Lloyd-Puryear MA, Mann MY. Understanding newborn screening system issues with emphasis on screening for cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Grosse S, Gwinn M. Assisting states in assessing newborn screening options. Public Health Rep 2001;116:169–72.
- Wilfond BS, Parad RB, Fost N. Balancing benefits and risks for cystic fibrosis newborn screening: implications for policy decisions. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Welsh MJ, Ramsey BW, Accurso F, Cutting GR. Cystic fibrosis. In: Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, et al., eds. The metabolic and molecular basis of inherited disease. 8<sup>th</sup> ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 2001;5121–88.
- Bobadilla JL, Macek M Jr, Fine JP, Farrell PM. Cystic fibrosis: a worldwide analysis of *CFTR* mutations—correlation with incidence data and application to screening. Hum Mutat 2002;19:575–606.
- Comeau AM, Parad RB, Dorkin HL, et al. Population-based newborn screening for genetic disorders when multiple mutation DNA testing is incorporated: a cystic fibrosis newborn screening model demonstrating increased sensitivity but more carrier detections. Pediatrics 2004;113:1573–81.
- Sontag MK, Hammond KB, Zielenski J, Wagener JS, Accurso FJ. Immunoreactive trypsinogen based newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Colorado: recall rate, genotyping and borderline sweat test results. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Parad RB, Comeau AM. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Ann 2003;32:528–35.
- 20. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Patient registry 2001 annual report. Bethesda, MD: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, 2002.
- National Newborn Screening and Genetics Resource Center. National newborn screening report 2000. San Antonio, TX: National Newborn Screening and Genetics Resource Center, 2003. Available at http://genes-r-us.uthscsa.edu/resources/newborn/00chapters.html.
- 22. Hiatt PW, Grace SC, Kozinetz CA, et al. Effects of viral lower respiratory tract infection on lung function in infants with cystic fibrosis. Pediatrics 1999;103:619–26.
- 23. Armstrong D, Grimwood K, Carlin JB, et al. Severe viral respiratory infections in infants with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 1998;26:371–9.
- Farrell PM, Li Z, Kosorok MR, et al. Longitudinal evaluation of bronchopulmonary disease in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 2003;36:230–40.
- 25. Ahmed N, Corey M, Forstner G, et al. Molecular consequences of Cystic Fibrosis Transmembrane Regulator (*CFTR*) gene mutations in the exocrine pancreas. Gut 2003;52:1159–64.
- Wang SS, O'Leary LA, Fitzsimmons SC, Khoury MJ. The impact of early cystic fibrosis diagnosis on pulmonary function in children. J Pediatr 2002;141:804–10.
- 27. Accurso FJ, Sontag MS, Wagener JS. Complications associated with symptomatic diagnosis in infants with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).

- 28. Farrell PM, Shen G, Splaingard M, et al. Acquisition of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatrics 1997;100:E2.
- 29. Farrell PM, Li Z, Kosorok MR, et al. Bronchopulmonary disease in children with cystic fibrosis after early or delayed diagnosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2003;168:1100–8.
- Kosorok MR, Jalaluddin M, Farrell PM, et al. Comprehensive analysis of risk factors for acquisition of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 1998;26:81–8.
- Hoiby N. Prospects for the prevention and control of pseudomonal infection in children with cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Drugs 2000;2: 451–63.
- Wilmott RW, Tyson SL, Matthew DJ. Cystic fibrosis survival rates: the influences of allergy and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Am J Dis Child 1985;139:669–71.
- 33. Fogarty A, Hubbard R, Britton J. International comparison of median age at death from cystic fibrosis. Chest 2000;117:1656–60.
- Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Patient Registry 2000 annual report. Bethesda, MD: Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, 2001.
- FitzSimmons SC. The changing epidemiology of cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr 1993;122:1–9.
- 36. Kharazzi M, Kharazzi L. Delayed diagnosis of cystic fibrosis and the family perspective. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Rosenstein BJ, Cutting GR. The diagnosis of cystic fibrosis: a consensus statement. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Consensus Panel. J Pediatr 1998;132:589–95.
- Farrell PM, Koscik RE. Sweat chloride concentrations in infants homozygous or heterozygous for F508 cystic fibrosis. Pediatrics 1996;97:524–8.
- Parad RB, Comeau AM, Dorkin HL, et al. Sweat testing newborn infants detected by cystic fibrosis newborn screening. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Boyle MP. Nonclassic cystic fibrosis and CFTR-related diseases. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2003;9:498–503.
- Krauth C, Jalilvand N, Welte T, Busse R. Cystic fibrosis: cost of illness and considerations for the economic evaluation of potential therapies. Pharmacoeconomics 2003;21:1001–24.
- Conway SP. Evidence-based medicine in cystic fibrosis: how should practice change? Pediatr Pulmonol 2002;34:242–7.
- Lee TW, Brownlee KG, Denton M, Littlewood JM, Conway SP. Reduction in prevalence of chronic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection at a regional pediatric cystic fibrosis center. Pediatr Pulmonol 2004;37:104–10.
- Kulich M, Rosenfeld M, Goss CH, Wilmott R. Improved survival among young patients with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr 2003;142:631–6.
- 45. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Infectious Diseases and Committee on Fetus and Newborn. Revised indications for the use of palivizumab and respiratory syncytial virus immune globulin intravenous for the prevention of respiratory syncytial virus infections. Pediatrics 2003;112(6 pt 1):1442–6.
- 46. Fuchs HJ, Borowitz DS, Christiansen DH, et al. Effect of aerosolized recombinant human DNase on exacerbations of respiratory symptoms and on pulmonary function in patients with cystic fibrosis. The Pulmozyme Study Group. N Engl J Med 1994;331:637–42.
- Ramsey BW, Pepe MS, Quan JM, et al. Intermittent administration of inhaled tobramycin in patients with cystic fibrosis. Cystic Fibrosis Inhaled Tobramycin Study Group. N Engl J Med 1999;340:23–30.

- 48. Equi A, Balfour-Lynn IM, Bush A, Rosenthal M. Long term azithromycin in children with cystic fibrosis: a randomised, placebocontrolled crossover trial. Lancet 2002;360:978–84.
- 49. Saiman L, Marshall BC, Mayer-Hamblett N, et al. Azithromycin in patients with cystic fibrosis chronically infected with *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA 2003;290:1749–56.
- Konstan MW, Krenicky JE, Finney MR, et al. Effect of ibuprofen on neutrophil migration in vivo in cystic fibrosis and healthy subjects. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2003;306:1086–91.
- 51. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, American College of Medical Genetics. Preconception and prenatal carrier screening for cystic fibrosis: clinical and laboratory guidelines. Washington, DC: American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists, 2001.
- 52. Palomaki GE. Prenatal screening for cystic fibrosis: an early report card. Genet Med 2004;6:115–6.
- 53. Scotet V, Audrezet MP, Roussey M, et al. Impact of public health strategies on the birth prevalence of cystic fibrosis in Brittany, France. Hum Genet 2003;113:280–5.
- 54. Haddow JE, Palomaki GE, eds. Population-based prenatal screening for cystic fibrosis via carrier testing. ACCE report. Scarborough, ME: Foundation for Blood Research, 2002. Available at http:// www.cdc.gov/genomics/info/reports/research/FBR/introduction.pdf.
- 55. Wilfond BS, Gollust SE. Policy issues for expanding newborn screening programs: a look "behind the curtain" at cystic fibrosis newborn screening programs in the United States [presentation]. Newborn Screening for Cystic Fibrosis Meeting; November 21, 2003; Atlanta, GA.
- 56. Parad RB, Comeau AM. Diagnostic dilemmas resulting from the immunoreactive trypsinogen/DNA cystic fibrosis newborn screening algorithm. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- 57. Rock MJ, Hoffman G, Laessig RH, Kopish GJ, Litsheim TJ, Farrell PM. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Wisconsin: nine years' experience with routine trypsinogen/DNA testing. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Watson MS, Desnick RJ, Grody WW, Mennuti MT, Popovich BW, Richards CS. Cystic fibrosis carrier screening: issues in implementation. Genet Med 2002;4:407–9.
- 59. Gilbert F. Cystic fibrosis carrier screening: steps in the development of a mutation panel. Genet Test 5:223–7.
- Mei J. Performance evaluation of laboratories screening newborns for cystic fibrosis [presentation]. Newborn Screening for Cystic Fibrosis Meeting; November 21, 2003; Atlanta, GA.
- 61. Palomaki GE, Bradley LA, Richards CS, Haddow JE. Analytic validity of cystic fibrosis testing: a preliminary estimate. Genet Med 2003;5:15–20.
- 62. Kwon C, Farrell PM. The magnitude and challenge of false-positive newborn screening test results. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2000;154:714–8.
- American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Genetics Pediatrics. Newborn Screening Fact Sheets 1996;98:473–501.
- Hammond KB, Abman SH, Sokol RJ, Accurso FJ. Efficacy of statewide neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis by assay of trypsinogen concentrations. N Engl J Med 1991;325:769–74.
- 65. Gregg RG, Wilfond BS, Farrell PM, Laxova A, Hassemer D, Mischler EH. Application of DNA analysis in a population-screening program for neonatal diagnosis of cystic fibrosis (CF): comparison of screening protocols. Am J Hum Genet 1993;52:616–26.

- 66. Gregg RG, Simantel A, Farrell PM, et al. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis in Wisconsin: comparison of biochemical and molecular methods. Pediatrics 1997;99:819–24.
- Comeau AM, Larson C, Eaton RB. Integration of new genetic diseases into statewide newborn screening: New England experience. Am J Med Genet 2004;125C:35–41.
- Lee DS, Rosenberg MA, Peterson A, et al. Analysis of the costs of diagnosing cystic fibrosis with a newborn screening program. J Pediatr 2003;142:617–23.
- Rosenberg MA, Farrell PM. Assessing the cost of cystic fibrosis diagnosis and treatment. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Harris RP, Helfand M, Woolf SH, et al. Current methods of the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force: a review of the process. Am J Prev Med 2001;20(suppl 3):21–35.
- 71. Ebell MH, Siwek J, Weiss BD, et al. Strength of recommendation taxonomy (SORT): a patient-centered approach to grading evidence in the medical literature. J Am Board Fam Pract 2004;17:59–67.
- Hardin DS, Sy JP. Effects of growth hormone treatment in children with cystic fibrosis: the National Cooperative Growth Study experience. J Pediatr 1997;131(1 pt 2):865–9.
- 73. Schibler A, von der Heiden R, Birrer P, Mullis PE. Prospective randomised treatment with recombinant human growth hormone in cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child 2003;88:1078–81.
- 74. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. Systems to rate the strength of scientific evidence. Evidence report/technology assessment: number 47. Rockville, MD: US Department of Health and Human Services, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2002. AHRQ publication no. 02-E015. Available at http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/ epcsums/strengthsum.pdf.
- U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Guide to clinical preventive services. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Baltimore, MD: Williams & Wilkins, 1996.
- 76. Farrell PM, Shen G, Splaingard M, et al. Acquisition of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatrics 1997;100:E2.
- 77. Farrell PM, Kosorok MR, Rock MJ, et al. Early diagnosis of cystic fibrosis through neonatal screening prevents severe malnutrition and improves long-term growth. Wisconsin Cystic Fibrosis Neonatal Screening Study Group. Pediatrics 2001;107:1–13.
- 78. Chatfield S, Owen G, Ryley HC, et al. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis in Wales and the West Midlands: clinical assessment after five years of screening. Arch Dis Child 1991;66(1 Spec No):29–33.
- 79. Doull IJ, Ryley HC, Weller P, Goodchild MC. Cystic fibrosis-related deaths in infancy and the effect of newborn screening. Pediatr Pulmonol 2001;31:363–6.
- Wilcken B, Chalmers G. Reduced morbidity in patients with cystic fibrosis detected by neonatal screening. Lancet 1985;2(8468):1319–21.
- Waters DL, Wilcken B, Irwing L, et al. Clinical outcomes of newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 1999;80:F1–7.
- McKay KO, Waters DL, Gaskin KJ. The influence of newborn screening for cystic fibrosis on pulmonary outcomes in New South Wales. J Pediatr (suppl) (In press).
- Dankert-Roelse JE, te Meerman GJ, Martijn A, ten Kate LP, Knol K. Survival and clinical outcome in patients with cystic fibrosis, with or without neonatal screening. J Pediatr 1989;114:362–7.
- 84. Dankert-Roelse JE, te Meerman GJ. Long term prognosis of patients with cystic fibrosis in relation to early detection by neonatal screening and treatment in a cystic fibrosis centre. Thorax 1995;50:712–8.

- Merelle ME, Schouten JP, Gerritsen J, Dankert-Roelse JE. Influence of neonatal screening and centralized treatment on long-term clinical outcome and survival of CF patients. Eur Respir J 2001;18: 306–15.
- 86. Dankert-Roelse JE, Merelle E. Newborn screening for CF: published evidence from Europe. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- 87. Siret D, Bretaudeau G, Branger B, et al. Comparing the clinical evolution of cystic fibrosis screened neonatally to that of cystic fibrosis diagnosed from clinical symptoms: a 10-year retrospective study in a French region (Brittany). Pediatr Pulmonol 2003;35:342–9.
- Mastella G, Zanolla L, Castellani C, et al. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis: long-term clinical balance. Pancreatology 2001;1: 531–7.
- 89. Castellani C. Evidence for newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev 2003;4:278–84.
- Assael BM, Castellani C, Ocampo MB, Iansa P, Callegaro A, Valsecchi MG. Epidemiology and survival analysis of cystic fibrosis in an area of intense neonatal screening over 30 years. Am J Epidemiol 2002;156:397–401.
- Sims EJ, McCormick J, Mehta G, Mehta A. Neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis is beneficial even in the context of modern treatment. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- 92. Lai HJ, Cheng Y, Farrell PM. The survival advantage of cystic fibrosis patients diagnosed through neonatal screening: evidence from the US Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Registry data. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- 93. Lai HJ, Cheng Y, Cho H, Kosorok MR, Farrell PM. Association between initial disease presentation, lung disease outcomes, and survival in patients with cystic fibrosis. Am J Epidemiol 2004;159:537–46.
- 94. Merelle ME, Nagelkerke AF, Lees CM, Dezateux C. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2001;CD001402.
- Dibley MJ, Staehling N, Nieburg P, Trowbridge FL. Interpretation of Z-score anthropometric indicators derived from the international growth reference. Am J Clin Nutr 1987;46:749–62.
- 96. Beker LT, Russek-Cohen E, Fink RJ. Stature as a prognostic factor in cystic fibrosis survival. J Am Diet Assoc 2001;101:438–42.
- Kirby RS, Brewster MA, Canino CU, Pavin M. Early childhood surveillance of developmental disorders by a birth defects surveillance system: methods, prevalence comparisons, and mortality patterns. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1995;16:318–26.
- Srivastava R, Homer CJ. Length of stay for common pediatric conditions: teaching versus nonteaching hospitals. Pediatrics 2003;112: 278–81.
- 99. Rashid M, Durie P, Andrew M, et al. Prevalence of vitamin K deficiency in cystic fibrosis. Am J Clin Nutr 1999;70:378–82.
- 100. Koscik RL, Farrell PM, Kosorok MR, et al. Cognitive function of children with cystic fibrosis: deleterious effect of early malnutrition. Pediatrics 2004;113;1549–58.
- Rosenfeld M. Overview of published evidence on outcomes with early diagnosis from U.S. observational studies. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- 102. Hayllar KM, Williams SG, Wise AE, et al. A prognostic model for the prediction of survival in cystic fibrosis. Thorax 1997;52:313–7.
- 103. Liou TG, Adler FR, Fitzsimmons SC, Cahill BC, Hibbs JR, Marshall BC. Predictive 5-year survivorship model of cystic fibrosis. Am J Epidemiol 2001;153:345–52.

- 104. Wang SS, FitzSimmons SC, O'Leary LA, Rock MJ, Gwinn ML, Khoury MJ. Early diagnosis of cystic fibrosis in the newborn period and risk of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* acquisition in the first 10 years of life: a registry-based longitudinal study. Pediatrics 2001;107:274–9.
- 105. Emerson J, Rosenfeld M, McNamara S, Ramsey B, Gibson RL. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and other predictors of mortality and morbidity in young children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 2002;34:91–100.
- 106. CTB/Macmillan/McGraw-Hill. Test of cognitive skills. 2<sup>nd</sup> ed. Technical report. Monterey, CA: CTB/Macmillan/McGraw-Hill School Publishing Company, 1998.
- 107. Koscik RL, Douglas JA, Zaremba K, et al. Quality of life of children with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Kotwicki RJ, Condra L, Vermeulen L, Wolf T, Douglas J, Farrell PM. Assessing the quality of life in children with cystic fibrosis. WMJ 2001;100:50–4.
- 109. Britto MT, Kotagal UR, Hornung RW, Atherton HD, Tsevat J, Wilmott RW. Impact of recent pulmonary exacerbations on quality of life in patients with cystic fibrosis. Chest 2002;121:64–72.
- Quittner AL. Measurement of quality of life in cystic fibrosis. Curr Opin Pulm Med 1998;4:326–31.
- 111. Stern RC, Eisenberg JD, Wagener JS, et al.. A comparison of the efficacy and tolerance of pancrelipase and placebo in the treatment of steatorrhea in cystic fibrosis patients with clinical exocrine PI. Am J Gastroenterol 2000;95:1932–8.
- 112. Lieu TA, Ray GT, Farmer G, Shay GF. The cost of medical care for patients with cystic fibrosis in a health maintenance organization. Pediatrics 1999;103:e72.
- Helton JL, Harmon RJ, Robinson N, Accurso FJ. Parental attitudes toward newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Pediatr Pulmonol 1991;7(suppl):23–8.
- 114. Weaver LT, Green MR, Nicholson K, et al. Prognosis in cystic fibrosis treated with continuous flucloxacillin from the neonatal period. Arch Dis Child 1994;70:84–9.
- 115. Stutman HR, Lieberman JM, Nussbaum E, Marks MI. Antibiotic prophylaxis in infants and young children with cystic fibrosis: a randomized controlled trial. J Pediatr 2002;140:299–305.
- 116. Smyth A, Walters S. Prophylactic antibiotics for cystic fibrosis (Cochrane review). In: The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2004. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. Available at http:// www.cochrane.org/cochrane/revabstr/AB001912.htm.
- 117. Connett GJ, Yeatman SI. Delayed diagnosis in cystic fibrosis patients homozygous for the delta F508 mutation results in increased treatment to maintain health in childhood [Abstract 407]. Pediatr Pulmonol 2002;34(suppl 24):318. Available at http://www3. interscience.wiley.com/cgi-bin/fulltext/102521369/PDFSTART.
- 118. al-Jader LN, Goodchild MC, Ryley HC, Harper PS. Attitudes of parents of cystic fibrosis children towards neonatal screening and antenatal diagnosis. Clin Genet 1990;38:460–5.
- 119. Boland C, Thompson NL. Effects of newborn screening of cystic fibrosis on reported maternal behaviour. Arch Dis Child 1990;65:1240–4.
- 120. Tluczek A, Mischler EH, Farrell PM, et al. Parents' knowledge of neonatal screening and response to false-positive cystic fibrosis testing. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1992;13:181–6.
- 121. Merelle ME, Huisman J, Alderden-van der Vecht A, et al. Early versus late diagnosis: psychological impact on parents of children with cystic fibrosis. Pediatrics 2003;111:346–50.

- Baroni MA, Anderson YE, Mischler E. Cystic fibrosis newborn screening: impact of early screening results on parenting stress. Pediatr Nurs 1997;23:143–51.
- 123. Parsons EP, Bradley DM. Psychosocial issues in newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev 2003;4:285–92.
- 124. Mischler EH, Wilfond BS, Fost N, et al. Cystic fibrosis newborn screening: impact on reproductive behavior and implications for genetic counseling. Pediatrics 1998;102(1 Pt 1):44–52.
- 125. Dudding T, Wilcken B, Burgess B, Hambly J, Turner G. Reproductive decisions after neonatal screening identifies cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2000;82:F124–7.
- 126. National Academy of Sciences. Committee on Inborn Errors of Metabolism. Genetic screening: programs, principles and research. Washington, DC: National Academy of Sciences, 1975.
- 127. Fost N, Farrell PM. A prospective randomized trial of early diagnosis and treatment of cystic fibrosis: a unique ethical dilemma. Clin Res 1989;37:495–500.
- Wilfond B, Rothenberg LS. Ethical issues in cystic fibrosis newborn screening: from data to public health policy. Curr Opin Pulm Med 2002;8:529–34.
- 129. Farrell MH, Farrell PM. Newborn screening for cystic fibrosis: ensuring more good than harm. J Pediatr 2003;143:707–12.
- 130. Comeau AM. Challenges of newborn screening. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- Parsons EP, Clarke AJ, Bradley DM. Implications of carrier identification in newborn screening for cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2003;88:F467–71.
- 132. Armstrong DS, Nixon GM, Carzino R, et al. Detection of a widespread clone of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in a pediatric cystic fibrosis clinic. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2002;166:983–7.
- 133. Maselli JH, Sontag MK, Norris JM, et al. Risk factors for initial acquisition of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in children with cystic fibrosis identified by newborn screening. Pediatr Pulmonol 2003;35: 257–62.
- 134. Saiman L, Siegel J. Infection control recommendations for patients with cystic fibrosis: microbiology, important pathogens, and infection control practices to prevent patient-to-patient transmission. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol 2003;24(suppl 5):S6–52.
- 135. Rothenberg MB, Sills EM. Iatrogenesis: the PKU anxiety syndrome. J Am Acad Child Psychiatry 1968;7:689–92.
- 136. Leslie LK, Boyce WT. Consultation with the specialist: the vulnerable child. Pediatr Rev 1996;17:323–6.
- 137. Ciske DJ, Haavisto A, Laxova A, Rock LZ, Farrell PM. Genetic counseling and neonatal screening for cystic fibrosis: an assessment of the communication process. Pediatrics 2001;107:699–705.
- 138. Wilfond BS, Fost N. The cystic fibrosis gene: medical and social implications for heterozygote detection. JAMA 1990;263:2777–83.
- Grossman LK, Holtzman NA, Charney E, Schwartz AD. Neonatal screening and genetic counseling for sickle cell trait. Am J Dis Child 1985;139:241–4.
- 140. Comeau AM. Genetic counseling. J Pediatr (suppl) (in press).
- 141. Wheeler PG, Smith R, Dorkin H, Parad RB, Comeau AM, Bianchi DW. Genetic counseling after implementation of statewide cystic fibrosis newborn screening: two years' experience in one medical center. Genet Med 2001;3:411–5.

- 142. American Academy of Pediatrics. Serving the family from birth to the medical home: a report from the Newborn Screening Task Force convened in Washington DC, May 10–11, 1999. Pediatrics 2000;106(2 pt 2):383–427.
- 143. Kim S, Lloyd-Puryear MA, Tonniges TF. Examination of the communication practices between state newborn screening programs and the medical home. Pediatrics 2003;111:E120–6.
- 144. American Academy of Pediatrics, Committee on Bioethics. Ethical issues with genetic testing in pediatrics. Pediatrics 2001;107: 1451–5.
- 145. Yang YM, Andrews S, Peterson R, Shah A, Cepeda M. Prenatal sickle cell screening education effect on the follow-up rates of infants with sickle cell trait. Patient Educ Couns 2000;39:185–9.
- Campbell ED, Ross LF. Incorporating newborn screening into prenatal care. Am J Obstet Gynecol 2004;190:876–7.
- 147. Larsson A, Therrell BL. Newborn screening: the role of the obstetrician. Clin Obstet Gynecol 2002;45:697–710.
- 148. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG committee opinion number 287, October 2003: newborn screening. Obstet Gynecol 2003;102:887–9.

- 149. Lloyd-Puryear M, Therrell B, Johnson A, Williams D, Leatherbury H. Educating parents and the informed decision-making process regarding newborn screening procedures and the use and storage of residual blood spots: report of a November 2000 conference. Los Angeles, CA: University of California at Los Angeles (in press).
- 150. Holtzman NA. Genetic screening and public health. Am J Public Health 1997;87:1275–7.
- 151. McCabe LL, Therrell BL, Jr., McCabe ER. Newborn screening: rationale for a comprehensive, fully integrated public health system. Mol Genet Metab 2002;77:267–73.
- 152. Clayton EW. What should be the role of public health in newborn screening and prenatal diagnosis? Am J Prev Med 1999;16:111–5.
- 153. Whitney SN, McGuire AL, McCullough LB. A typology of shared decision making, informed consent, and simple consent. Ann Intern Med 2004;140:54–9.
- 154. Grosse SD, Matte TD, Schwartz J, Jackson RJ. Economic gains resulting from the reduction in children's exposure to lead in the United States. Environ Health Perspect 2002;110:563–9.

# **Terms and Abbreviations Used in This Report**

AAP	American Academy of Pediatrics	clinical utility	net balance of outcomes (risks, ben-	
ACMG	American College of Medical Genetics		efits, and costs) demonstrated to result from screening, including interven-	
allele	alternative form of a gene that exists at a specific gene location (locus) on a chromosome		tions following diagnosis, in compari- son to the natural history of the disorder in the absence of screening	
AMP	adenosine-5'-monophosphate	clinical validity	ability of a test or protocol to accurately	
analyte	substance measured by a laboratory test		and reliably identify individuals who either have or will have the disorder or	
analytic validity	ability of a test to accurately and reli-		phenotype of interest	
	ably measure a specific analyte or iden- tify a mutation of interest, including analytic sensitivity and specificity	CSI	Cognitive Skills Index; measure of gen- eral cognitive ability	
anthropometry	measurement of the size and propor- tions of the human body and its parts	failure to thrive	restricted growth in weight and length in an infant or toddler with unspeci- fied cause	
autosomal recessive	allele located on one of the autosomal chromosomes inherited from each par- ent; presence of two similar alleles is required to cause a particular clinical	false-negative	negative screening result reported for a person who actually has the disease of interest	
	finding or disorder	false-positive	positive screening result reported for a	
birth prevalence	number of cases of a specified condi- tion in a birth cohort relative to the		of interest	
	number of births	FEV <sub>1</sub>	forced expiratory volume in 1 second,	
carrier	person who has just one copy of a re- cessive disease-causing allele; does not have the disease in question	genotype	a person's genetic makeup, specifically the alleles present at specific gene loci	
CF	Cystic fibrosis	height-for-age	a person's height relative to the heights	
CFF	Cystic Fibrosis Foundation		of others of the same age and sex in a reference population	
CFNPR	Cystic Fibrosis Foundation National Patient Registry	homozygote	a person with two copies of the same allele of a gene	
CFTR	Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conduc- tance regulator protein	HRQoL	health-related quality of life	
CFTR	gene that regulates expression of the CFTR protein	intent-to-treat	analysis that classifies persons accord- ing to the treatment that they were sup- posed to have received rather than what	
СНQ	Child Health Questionnaire; instru-		they actually experienced	
CI	confidence interval	IQR	interquartile range (i.e., the range between the 25 <sup>th</sup> –75 <sup>th</sup> percentiles)	
		IRT	immunoreactive trypsinogen	

36	ММ	October 15, 2004	
IRT/DNA	screening protocol/algorithm in which a blood spot specimen with an elevated	QWB	quality of well-being; instrument used to measure HRQoL
	IRT value is tested for the presence of <i>CETR</i> mutations	RCT	randomized controlled trial
IRT-repeat IRT	screening protocol/algorithm in which	RSV	respiratory syncytial virus
	an infant with an elevated IRT on an	SCD	sickle cell disease
	ond specimen collected that is analyzed for elevated IRT	screen-positive	person whose screening result is posi- tive for a marker of a disease
lung function	measures of flow of air out of the lungs and how much air the lungs can hold	screening algorithm	clinical decision pathway involving a series of screening tests and decision points whether to refer for further
meconium lieus	birth, due to abnormally thick meco- nium that blocks the passage of stool	SD	testing standard deviation
	out of the ileum and into the colon	sensitivity	frequency with which a test yields a
mutation	a permanent heritable change in the molecular sequence of a gene		or disease in question is actually present in the person being tested
newborn screening	public health service for the early de- tection of treatable disorders on the ba- sis of laboratory analysis of dried blood spot specimens collected from newborn	Shwachman score	clinical score for CF with four sub- scores: physical exam, nutrition, activ- ity, and chest radiography
nonclassic CF	mild form of CF in which patients re-	SORT	Strength of Recommendation Tax- onomy; a classification of types of evi- dence for recommending clinical
	tain <i>CFTR</i> and pancreatic function;		interventions
	lesser degree than in classic CF	specificity	frequency with which a test yields a
pancreatic insufficiency	absence or virtual absence of pancre-		or disease in question is not present in the person being tested
	duced ability to digest and absorb fat and fat-soluble vitamins	spirometry	method of quantifying flow of air out of lungs by using mouthpiece attached to a recording device
phenotype	clinical presentation or expression of a genotype	sweat testing	collection and analysis of sweat elec- trolytes to diagnose CF on the basis of
iontophoresis	activation of sweat glands on localized area of skin by a positive electrode	UKCFD	elevated sweat chloride levels United Kingdom Cystic Fibrosis Database
РКИ	known as sweat testing	USPSTF	United States Preventive Services Task Force
positive predictive value	the likelihood that a person with a posi- tive test result actually has the disease	Z-score	number of standard deviations by which a measurement differs from the mean of the reference distribution

#### Cystic Fibrosis Meeting Participants November 2003

Frank J. Accurso, M.D., University of Colorado, Denver, Colorado; Ran D. Anbar, M.D., SUNY Upstate Medical University Hospital, Syracuse, New York; Mary Ann Baily, Ph.D., The Hastings Center, Garrison, New York; Robert J. Beall, Ph.D., Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, Bethesda, Maryland; Stanton L. Berberich, Ph.D., University of Iowa Hygienic Laboratory, Iowa City, Iowa; Drucy Borowitz, M.D., State University of New York, Buffalo, New York; Jeffrey R. Botkin, M.D., University of Utah, Salt Lake City, Utah; C. Michael Bowman, Ph.D., M.D., Medical University of South Carolina, Charleston, South Carolina; Coleen A. Boyle, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Don Bradley, Ph.D., University Hospital of Wales, Heath Park, Cardiff, United Kingdom; Linda Bradley, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Edward Brann, M.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Peter Briss, M.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Preston W. Campbell III, M.D., Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, Bethesda, Maryland; Ellen Wright Clayton, M.D., J.D., Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee; Richard C. Cohen, M.D., Kaiser Permanente Northwest Region, Portland, Oregon; Anne Marie Comeau, Ph.D., University of Massachusetts Medical School, Jamaica Plain, Massachusetts; Krista Stimson Crider, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; George Cunningham, M.D., California Department of Health Services, Richmond, California; Jeannette E. Dankert-Roelse, M.D., Ph.D., Vrije Universiteit Medical Centre, Amsterdam, The Netherlands; George W. Delavan, M.D., Utah Department of Health, Salt Lake City, Utah; Franklin Desposito, M.D., New Jersey Medical School, Newark, New Jersey; Owen J. Devine, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Jean-Louis Dhondt, M.D., Ph.D., Hospital St. Philibert, Lomme, France; James P. Dillard, Ph.D., University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin; Henry L. Dorkin, M.D., Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston, Massachusetts; Marie Earley, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Philip M. Farrell, M.D., Ph.D., University of Wisconsin Medical School, Madison, Wisconsin; Andrew Faucett, M.S., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Paul Fernhoff, M.D., Emory University, Atlanta, Georgia; Kenneth S. Fink, M.D., Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, Maryland; Norman Fost, M.D., University of Wisconsin Medical School, Madison, Wisconsin; Dennis Freer, Ph.D., Pediatrix Screening, Bridgeville, Pennsylvania; Patricia Furlong, MS, Parent Project Muscular Dystrophy, Middletown, Ohio; Michael Glass, M.S., Washington State Department of Health, Shoreline, Washington; Denise Green, M.P.H., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Nancy S. Green, M.D., March of Dimes, White Plains, New York; Scott D. Grosse, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Keith B. Hammond, M.S., University of Colorado School of Medicine, Denver, Colorado; W. Harry Hannon, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Mark Helfand, M.D., Oregon Health Sciences University, Portland, Oregon; Gary Hoffman, Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene, Madison, Wisconsin; Niels Hoiby, D.M.S., Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark; R. Rodney Howell, M.D., National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland; Michelle Howenstine, M.D., Indiana University School of Medicine, Indianapolis, Indiana; Robert A. Kaslovsky, M.D., Albany Medical College, Albany, New York; Aileen Kenneson, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Martin Kharrazi, Ph.D., California Department of Health Services, Richmond, California; Muin J. Khoury, M.D., Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Pamela King, M.P.A., Oklahoma State Department of Health, Oklahoma City, Oklahoma; Katherine Kolor, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Rebecca L. Koscik, Ph.D., University of Wisconsin Medical School, Madison, Wisconsin; HuiChuan Lai, Ph.D., University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin; Larry Lands, M.D., Ph.D., McGill University Health Centre, Montreal, Canada; Mary Lou Lindegren, M.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Michele A. Lloyd-Puryear, M.D., Ph.D., Maternal and Child Health Bureau, Rockville, Maryland; Thomas H. Locke, M.D., Washington State Board of Health, Olympia, Washington; Jerry McClure, Mississippi State Department of Health, Jackson, Mississippi; Susanna A. McColley, M.D., Children's Memorial Hospital, Chicago, Illinois; Karen McKay, M.D., The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Australia; Catherine McKeon, Ph.D., National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland; Capt. John A. McQueston, M.D., U.S. Naval Medical Center, Portsmouth, Virginia; Anil Mehta, M.R.C.P., University of Dundee, Scotland; Joanne Mei, Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Julie Miller, Nebraska Department of Health and Human Services, Lincoln, Nebraska; Micah Milton, M.P.H., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Mark Montgomery, M.D., University of Calgary, Alberta, Canada; Cynthia Moore, M.D., Ph.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Jelili Ojodu, M.P.H., Association of Public Health Laboratories, Washington, DC; Richard Olney, M.D., CDC, Atlanta, Georgia; Richard B. Parad, M.D. Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts; Kenneth A. Pass, Ph.D., New York State Department of Health, Albany, New York; Suzanne R. Pattee, J.D., Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, Bethesda, Maryland; Rodney J. Pollitt, Ph.D., Sheffield Children's Hospital, Sheffield, United Kingdom; Michael J. Rock, M.D., University of Wisconsin, Madison; Margaret Rosenfeld, M.D., Children's Hospital and Regional Medical Center, Seattle, Washington; Lainie Friedman Ross, M.D., Ph.D., University of Chicago, Illinois; Jack K. Sharp, M.D., State University of New York, Buffalo, New York; Marci Sontag, Ph.D., University of Colorado Health Sciences Center, Denver, Colorado; Brad L. Therrell, Ph.D., National Newborn Screening and Genetics Resource Center, Austin, Texas; Audrey Tluczek, Ph.D., University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin; Kathy Tomashitis, M.N.S., Columbia, South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, Columbia, South Carolina; Thomas F. Tonniges, M.D., American Academy of Pediatrics, Elk Grove Village, Illinois; Terry B. White, Ph.D., Cystic Fibrosis Foundation, Olympia, Washington; Bridget Wilcken, M.B.Ch.B., The Children's Hospital at Westmead, Australia; Benjamin S. Wilfond, M.D., National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Maryland, Robert W. Wilmott, M.D., St. Louis University School of Medicine, St. Louis. Missouri.



# **Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report**

## **Recommendations and Reports**

October 15, 2004 / Vol. 53 / No. RR-13

# Continuing Education Activity Sponsored by CDC Newborn Screening for Cystic Fibrosis: Evaluation of Benefits and Risks and Recommendations for State Newborn Screening Programs

## EXPIRATION — October 15, 2007

You must complete and return the response form electronically or by mail by **October 15, 2007**, to receive continuing education credit. If you answer all of the questions, you will receive an award letter for 3.0 hours Continuing Medical Education (CME) credit; 0.3 Continuing Education Units (CEUs);

or 3.6 contact hours Continuing Nursing Education (CNE) credit. If you return the form electronically, you will receive educational credit immediately. If you mail the form, you will receive educational credit in approximately 30 days. No fees are charged for participating in this continuing education activity.

#### INSTRUCTIONS

#### **By Internet**

- 1. Read this *MMWR* (Vol. 53, RR-13), which contains the correct answers to the questions beginning on the next page.
- Go to the MMWR Continuing Education Internet site at http:// www.cdc.gov/mmwr/cme/conted.html.
- 3. Select which exam you want to take and select whether you want to register for CME, CEU, or CNE credit.
- 4. Fill out and submit the registration form.
- 5. Select exam questions. To receive continuing education credit, you must answer all of the questions. Questions with more than one correct answer will instruct you to "Indicate all that apply."
- 6. Submit your answers no later than **October 15, 2007**.
- 7. Immediately print your Certificate of Completion for your records.

#### By Mail or Fax

- 1. Read this *MMWR* (Vol. 53, RR-13), which contains the correct answers to the questions beginning on the next page.
- Complete all registration information on the response form, including your name, mailing address, phone number, and e-mail address, if available.
- 3. Indicate whether you are registering for CME, CEU, or CNE credit.
- 4. Select your answers to the questions, and mark the corresponding letters on the response form. To receive continuing education credit, you must answer all of the questions. Questions with more than one correct answer will instruct you to "Indicate all that apply."
- 5. Sign and date the response form or a photocopy of the form and send no later than **October 15, 2007**, to

Fax: 404-639-4198 Mail: MMWR CE Credit Office of Scientific and Health Communications Epidemiology Program Office, MS E-96 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 1600 Clifton Rd, N.E. Atlanta, GA 30333

6. Your Certificate of Completion will be mailed to you within 30 days.

#### ACCREDITATION

**Continuing Medical Education (CME).** CDC is accredited by the Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education (ACCME) to provide continuing medical education for physicians. CDC designates this educational activity for a maximum of 3.0 hours in category 1 credit toward the AMA Physician's Recognition Award. Each physician should claim only those hours of credit that he/she actually spent in the educational activity.

**Continuing Education Unit (CEU).** CDC has been approved as an authorized provider of continuing education and training programs by the International Association for Continuing Education and Training and awards 0.3 Continuing Education Units (CEUs).

**Continuing Nursing Education (CNE).** This activity for 3.6 contact hours is provided by CDC, which is accredited as a provider of continuing education in nursing by the American Nurses Credentialing Center's Commission on Accreditation.

## **CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION**

#### SAFER • HEALTHIER • PEOPLE<sup>™</sup>

#### **Goal and Objectives**

This *MMWR* presents a framework for assessing the risks and benefits derived from newborn screening for cystic fibrosis (CF) and summarizes scientific evidence. These recommendations were developed by CDC staff in collaboration with the Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. The goal of this report is to provide information for policymakers and medical and public health professionals on which to base decisions regarding CF newborn screening programs. After completing this educational activity, the reader should be able to 1) list patient-oriented outcomes that are relevant to evaluating the effectiveness of newborn screening for CF; 2) describe the primary benefits of newborn screening for CF; and 4) describe approaches to maximizing the benefit/risk ratio of newborn screening for CF.

#### To receive continuing education credit, please answer all of the following questions.

#### 1. Cystic fibrosis is . . .

- A. an autosomal recessive disorder.
- B. a disorder associated with pulmonary disease.
- C. a disorder associated with gastrointestinal disease.
- D. not usually fatal in childhood.
- E. all of the above.

# 2. Which of the following statements about newborn screening policy is true in the United States?

- A. Newborn screening is a federal responsibility.
- B. Policymakers usually require evidence of cost-effectiveness for newborn screening tests.
- C. Newborn screening is implemented by states to prevent childhood death, disability, or serious clinical complications.
- D. Policymakers usually require randomized controlled trial data for newborn screening tests.

# 3. Which of the following is not a newborn screening algorithm that is used to refer infants for sweat testing in the United States?

- A. Test two independent blood spot specimens from a newborn for elevated immunoreactive trypsinogen (IRT).
- B. Test a single blood spot specimen from each newborn for presence of multiple cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) gene mutations.
- C. Test a single blood spot specimen from each newborn for elevated IRT and multiple CFTR mutations.
- D. Test a single blood spot specimen from each newborn for elevated IRT and the common mutation,  $\Delta$ F508.

#### 4. Which of the following is true about the clinical diagnosis of CF?

- A. Approximately 15% of children with CF have meconium ileus at birth.
- B. Clinical symptoms in infants might be incorrectly attributed to asthma.
- C. The measurement of sweat chloride is the primary diagnostic test for CF.
- D. Children with signs of CF should receive diagnostic testing even if they were screened as newborns.
- E. All of the above are true.

# 5. The Wisconsin CF newborn screening project identified better outcomes for the screened cohort in terms of . . .

- A. lung function.
- B. height-for-age ratios.
- C. health-related quality of life.
- D. survival.
- E. B and D.
- F. all of the above.

- 6. Which potential benefit of newborn screening for CF has not received support from the majority of observational studies that have examined this outcome?
  - A. Growth.
  - B. Survival.
  - C. Lung function.
  - D. Reduced hospitalization.
- 7. Which of the following is not a psychosocial risk of either delayed diagnosis or newborn screening?
  - A. Misunderstanding of carrier status.
  - B. Parental anxiety.
  - C. Parental frustration and mistrust.
  - D. Reduced medical bills.
- 8. What is the most serious risk of harm associated with newborn screening for CF that has been reported in the scientific literature?
  - A. Earlier colonization with Pseudomonas aeruginosa.
  - B. Reduced access to private health insurance.
  - C. Premature death.
  - D. Impaired parental bonding.

#### 9. Which best describes your professional activities?

- A. Physician.
- B. Nurse.
- C. Health educator.
- D. Office staff.
- E. Other.

# 10. I plan to use these recommendations as the basis for ... (*Indicate all that apply.*)

- A. health education materials.
- B. insurance reimbursement policies.
- C. local practice guidelines.
- D. public policy.
- E. other.

#### 11. Each month, approximately how many patients with CF do you treat?

- A. None.
- B. 1–5.
- C. 6–20.
- D. 21–50.
- E. 51–100.
- F. >100.

# 12. How much time did you spend reading this report and completing the exam?

- A. <2.0 hours.
- B. >2.0 hours but <3.0 hours.
- C. >3.0 hours but <4.0.
- D. >4.0 hours.

- 13. After reading this report, I am confident I can list patient-oriented outcomes that are relevant to evaluating the effectiveness of newborn screening for CF.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Neither agree nor disagree.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.
- 14. After reading this report, I am confident I can describe the primary benefits of newborn screening for CF.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Neither agree nor disagree.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.
- 15. After reading this report, I am confident I can describe primary risks of newborn screening for CF.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Neither agree nor disagree.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.

- 16. After reading this report, I am confident I can describe approaches to maximizing the benefit/risk ratio of newborn screening for CF.
  - A. Strongly agree.
  - B. Agree.
  - C. Neither agree nor disagree.
  - D. Disagree.
  - E. Strongly disagree.

#### 17. The objectives are relevant to the goal of this report.

- A. Strongly agree.
- B. Agree.
- C. Neither agree nor disagree.
- D. Disagree.
- E. Strongly disagree.

#### 18. The teaching strategies used in this report (text, boxes, figure, and tables) were useful.

- A. Strongly agree.
- B. Agree.
- Neither agree nor disagree. C.
- D. Disagree.
- E. Strongly disagree.

(Continued on pg CE-4)

Ξ

Ē

Date I Completed Exam

Signature

Detach or photocopy. **Cystic Fibrosis: Evaluation of Benefits and Risks** nonphysicians MMWR Response Form for Continuing Education Credit and Recommendations for State Newborn Screening Programs CME Credit CEU Credit CNE Credit Check One CME for all Credit шшшшшшшш in the appropriate blocks to indicate your answers. Remember, you must answer rejection of your application for continuing education credit. 2004/Vol. 53/No. RR-13 indicate your choice of CME, CME for nonphysicians, Failure to complete these items can result in a delay or 0000000000000 receive continuing education credit, you must \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ \_ sign and date this form or a photocopy; submit your answer form by October 15, 2007. Suite Code ZIP First Name education credit! provide your contact information, 113. 114. 114. 114. 113. 22. 22. 22. 23. answer <u>all</u> of the test questions, Fax Number State Ē continuing CEU, or CNE credi October 15, 9 шш шшш ш Newborn Screening for receive BOX 5 Street Address or P.O. questions 10 1.0 3 4.6 E-Mail Address Phone Number Apartmeni Last Name the <u>=</u> of Cit

# 19. Overall, the presentation of the report enhanced my ability to understand the material.

- A. Strongly agree.
- B. Agree.
- C. Neither agree nor disagree.
- D. Disagree.
- E. Strongly disagree.

#### 20. These recommendations will affect my practice.

- A. Strongly agree.
- B. Agree.
- C. Neither agree nor disagree.
- D. Disagree.
- E. Strongly disagree.

#### 21. The content of this activity was appropriate for my educational needs.

- A. Strongly agree.
- B. Agree.
- C. Neither agree nor disagree.
- D. Disagree.
- E. Strongly disagree.

# 22. The availability of continuing education credit influenced my decision to read this report.

- A. Strongly agree.
- B. Agree.
- C. Neither agree nor disagree.
- D. Disagree.
- E. Strongly disagree.

#### 23. How did you learn about this continuing education activity?

- A. Internet.
- B. Advertisement (e.g., fact sheet, MMWR cover, newsletter, or journal).
- C. Coworker/supervisor.
- D. Conference presentation.
- E. MMWR subscription.
- F. Other.

Correct answers for questions 1–8. 1. E. 2. C. 3. B. 4. E. 5. B. 6. C. 7. D. 8. A. The Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR) Series is prepared by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and is available free of charge in electronic format and on a paid subscription basis for paper copy. To receive an electronic copy each week, send an e-mail message to *listserv@listserv.cdc.gov*. The body content should read *SUBscribe mmwr-toc*. Electronic copy also is available from CDC's World-Wide Web server at *http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr* or from CDC's file transfer protocol server at *ftp://ftp.cdc.gov/pub/publications/mmwr*. To subscribe for paper copy, contact Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402; telephone 202-512-1800.

Data in the weekly *MMWR* are provisional, based on weekly reports to CDC by state health departments. The reporting week concludes at close of business on Friday; compiled data on a national basis are officially released to the public on the following Friday. Address inquiries about the *MMWR* Series, including material to be considered for publication, to Editor, *MMWR* Series, Mailstop E-96, CDC, 1600 Clifton Rd., N.E., Atlanta, GA 30333; telephone 888-232-3228.

All material in the MMWR Series is in the public domain and may be used and reprinted without permission; citation as to source, however, is appreciated.

All MMWR references are available on the Internet at http://www.cdc.gov/mmwr. Use the search function to find specific articles.

Use of trade names and commercial sources is for identification only and does not imply endorsement by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

References to non-CDC sites on the Internet are provided as a service to *MMWR* readers and do not constitute or imply endorsement of these organizations or their programs by CDC or the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. CDC is not responsible for the content of these sites. URL addresses listed in *MMWR* were current as of the date of publication.

☆U.S. Government Printing Office: 2004-633-140/00045 Region IV ISSN: 1057-5987